
If you are reading this electronically, the Council has saved £2.70 on printing.  For 
more information on the Mod.gov paperless app, contact Democratic Services

Merton Council
Cabinet  Agenda
Membership

Councillors: 

Stephen Alambritis (Chair)
Mark Allison
Laxmi Attawar
Kelly Braund
Tobin Byers
Caroline Cooper-Marbiah
Edith Macauley MBE
Eleanor Stringer
Martin Whelton

Date: Monday 16 December 2019 

Time:  7.15 pm

Venue:  Committee rooms C, D & E - Merton Civic Centre, London Road, 
Morden SM4 5DX

This is a public meeting and attendance by the public is encouraged and welcomed.  
For more information about the agenda please contact  
democratic.services@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3616.

All Press contacts: communications@merton.gov.uk, 020 8545 3181

mailto:communications@merton.gov.uk


Cabinet  Agenda
16 December 2019 
1 Apologies for absence 

2 Declarations of pecuniary interest 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 8

4 Reference from Overview and Scrutiny Commission  - 
climate emergency 

9 - 16

5 Scrutiny of the Business Plan 2020-2024: comments and 
recommendations from the overview and scrutiny panels 

17 - 20

6 Financial Monitoring October 2019 21 - 78

7 Street Cleansing Localised Improvement Plan 79 - 94

Note on declarations of interest
Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at 
the meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during 
the whole of the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  If  
members consider they should not participate because of a non-pecuniary interest which may give 
rise to a perception of bias, they should declare this, .withdraw and not participate in consideration of 
the item.  For further advice please speak with the Assistant Director of Corporate Governance.



Public Information
Attendance at meetings
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Council.  Seating in the public gallery 
is limited and offered on a first come first served basis.
Audio/Visual recording of meetings
The Council will film meetings held in the Council Chamber for publication on the 
website.  If you would like to film or record any meeting of the Council held in public, 
please read the Council’s policy here or contact democratic.services@merton.gov.uk for 
more information.
Mobile telephones
Please put your mobile telephone on silent whilst in the meeting.
Access information for the Civic Centre

 Nearest Tube: Morden (Northern Line)
 Nearest train: Morden South, South 

Merton (First Capital Connect)
 Tramlink: Morden Road or Phipps 

Bridge (via Morden Hall Park)
 Bus routes: 80, 93, 118, 154, 157, 

163, 164, 201, 293, 413, 470, K5

Further information can be found here
Meeting access/special requirements
The Civic Centre is accessible to people with special access requirements.  There are 
accessible toilets, lifts to meeting rooms, disabled parking bays and an induction loop 
system for people with hearing difficulties.  For further information, please contact 
democratic.services@merton.gov.uk 
Fire alarm
If the fire alarm sounds, either intermittently or continuously, please leave the building 
immediately by the nearest available fire exit without stopping to collect belongings.  
Staff will direct you to the exits and fire assembly point.  If you are unable to use the 
stairs, a member of staff will assist you.  The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, 
otherwise it will stand adjourned.
Electronic agendas, reports and minutes
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be found on our 
website.  To access this, click https://www.merton.gov.uk/council-and-local-democracy 
and search for the relevant committee and meeting date.
Agendas can also be viewed online in the Borough’s libraries and on the Mod.gov 
paperless app for iPads, Android and Windows devices.

https://www2.merton.gov.uk/Guidance%20on%20recording%20meetings%20NEW.docx
mailto:
https://www.merton.gov.uk/contact-us/visiting-the-civic-centre
mailto:democratic.services@merton.gov.uk
https://www.merton.gov.uk/council-and-local-democracy


This page is intentionally left blank



All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee.

1

CABINET
11 NOVEMBER 2019
(7.15 pm - 7.41 pm)
PRESENT: Councillors Stephen Alambritis (in the Chair), Mark Allison, 

Laxmi Attawar, Kelly Braund, Tobin Byers, Caroline Cooper-
Marbiah, Edith Macauley MBE, Eleanor Stringer and Martin 
Whelton

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Natasha Irons

Ged Curran (Chief Executive), Hannah Doody (Director of 
Community and Housing), Caroline Holland (Director of 
Corporate Services), Chris Lee (Director of Environment and 
Regeneration), Rachael Wardell (Director, Children, Schools & 
Families Department), Zara Bishop (Communications Manager), 
Fabiola Hickson (Manager business improvement law), Mark 
Humphries (Assistant Director of Infrastructure & Technology), 
David Keppler (Head of Revenues and Benefits), Octavia Lamb 
(Policy and Research Officer (Labour Group)), Paul McGarry 
(FutureMerton Manager), James McGinlay (Assistant Director for 
Sustainable Communities) and Louise Fleming (Senior 
Democratic Services Officer)

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 1)

No apologies for absence were received.

2 DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST (Agenda Item 2)

There were no declarations of interest.

3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Agenda Item 3)

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 2019 are agreed as 
an accurate record.

4 CHILDREN'S MENTAL HEALTH SCRUTINY TASK  GROUP REPORT 
(Agenda Item 4)

At the invitation of the Chair, Councillor Natasha Irons, the Chair of the Task Group, 
presented the report and outlined the recommendations particularly around piloting 
social prescribing and the proposal to bring a report on post-natal attachment policy, 
to a future scrutiny panel meeting.

The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services thanked all those involved in the Task 
Group for their work and contributions.  She also thanked the CCG, who were critical 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

http://www.merton.gov.uk/committee


2

partners in this area.  She welcomed and endorsed recommendations which would 
help strengthen provision in this important area.

The Director of Children Schools and Families welcomed the report and reassured 
Cabinet that the focus on both children and mental health was a priority for health 
partners in the borough.

The Cabinet welcomed the report and the recommendations and it was

RESOLVED

1. That the report and recommendations (attached in Appendix A to the Cabinet 
report) arising from the scrutiny review of Children’s Mental Health be noted.

2. That the implementation of the recommendations through an action plan being 
drawn up by officers working with relevant local partner organisations and 
Cabinet Member(s) to be designated by Cabinet be agreed.

3. That the action plan be submitted to the Children and Young People Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel.

5 DELIVERY OF THE REGENERATION OF MORDEN TOWN CENTRE 
(Agenda Item 5)

The Chair asked the Cabinet to not refer to the exempt paper as part of the 
discussion so that the public did not have to be excluded from any part of the 
meeting.

The Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Housing and Transport presented the report 
which set out progress to date and proposals for the next steps in the delivery of the 
Morden Town Centre regeneration.  The regeneration was a priority for the Council 
and would be delivered over a 10 year period to make Morden a more attractive 
place to live by providing more affordable housing; improving the public realm and 
retail offer; and harnessing the 12million people a year who used Morden tube 
station.  It was also hoped to increase footfall by providing a better link to Morden 
Hall Park, which was the only National Trust Park in London.  The Council had been 
granted £54million from the GLA Land Fund to assist with the regeneration, and this 
was conditional on a successful ballot of the homes with the regeneration zone and 
therefore extensive resident engagement would be carried out.

The Chair welcomed the report and the opportunity to set an exemplar for suburban 
design and linking a National Trust park with Morden Town Centre.

RESOLVED

1. That the area identified for the regeneration of Morden Town Centre as shown 
at Appendix 1 to the Cabinet report, which has also been published as draft 
Site Allocation Mo4 Morden Town Centre Regeneration Zone in the council’s 
Local Plan Stage 2 consultation be noted.

2. That Council be recommended to accept the Greater London Authority Land 
Fund grant of £54.5m on behalf of the LLP; and that authority be delegated to 

Page 2



3

the Director for Environment and Regeneration to finalise the terms and 
conditions with the GLA.

3. That it be noted that a requirement of the GLA Land Fund grant, either by the 
Council or as part of a LLP, is subject to the outcome of a residential ballot.

4. That authority be delegated to the Director for Environment and Regeneration 
in conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Housing and 
Transport to enter into and establish a Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) with 
Transport for London (TfL) to procure a third party development partner to 
jointly deliver the regeneration scheme.

5. That authority be delegated to the Director for Environment and Regeneration 
to:
a. appoint officer representatives to the LLP Board and any other related 

body; and
b. review and approve LLP Business Plans.

6. That the steps outlined in the Cabinet report for the procurement process and 
eventual appointment of a third party development partner under a 
development or joint venture agreement be noted.

7. That the Director for Environment and Regeneration be authorised, in line with 
the council’s Contract Standing Orders, to prepare and issue invitations to 
tender through TfL’s Procurement Team for the appointment of a joint venture 
third party development partner to develop out the scheme.

8. That the increase of the following funds as Merton’s equity in the LLP to 
enable the delivery of the regeneration, subject to scrutiny and final Cabinet 
approval in the budget be noted:
a. £1m capital bid for Morden regeneration.

9. That authority be delegated to the Director for Environment and Regeneration 
and the Director of Corporate Services, in collaboration with the Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration, Housing and Transport to approve a resource plan 
from next year for the project, to be utilised until the terms and conditions of 
the GLA Land Fund are finalised.

10. That authority be delegated to the Director for Environment and Regeneration 
in conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Housing and 
Transport to approve the inclusion of  additional sites or properties required to 
assist in the delivery of the scheme.

11. That a further report will be brought to Cabinet prior to the appointment of the 
preferred third party development partner.

6 BUS SHELTER, STREET FURNITURE AND ASSOCIATED ADVERTISING 
CONCESSION CONTRACT (Agenda Item 6)

The Chair asked the Cabinet to not refer to the exempt paper as part of the 
discussion so that the public did not have to be excluded from any part of the 
meeting.

The Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Housing and Transport presented the report 
which set out a proposal to award a contract for a media provider who would deliver 
an enhanced provision of the bus shelters improving amenity benefit to residents, at 
the same time as maximising the income to the Council from advertising. 

Page 3



4

RESOLVED

1. That the contract be awarded to the highest bidder, as outlined in the confidential 
Appendix 1 for an initial term of 10 years, commencing on 1st January 2020, with 
the option to extend for a further 5 years at the Council’s discretion.

2. That authority be delegated to the Director of Environment and Regeneration after 
consultation with the Cabinet member for Regeneration, Housing and Transport to 
approve the additional 5 year extension.

7 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2020/21 (Agenda Item 7)

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance presented the report and 
thanked the officers for their work.  He advised that the Cabinet wanted to protect the 
vulnerable and less well off in the community and it was felt that the proposals in the 
report would help with this aim.

The Chair welcomed the report which would support those on low incomes.

RESOLVED

1. That the uprating changes for the 2020/21 council tax support scheme 
detailed in the report be agreed, in order to maintain low council tax 
charges for those on lower incomes and other vulnerable residents 

2. That Council be recommended to adopt the new 2020/21 scheme.

8 FEASIBILITY AND COSTS OF A COUNCIL TAX VOLUNTARY SCHEME 
(Agenda Item 8)

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance presented the report, which had 
been brought to Cabinet for consideration following a resolution at a previous Council 
meeting.  He thanked the officers involved for their research into the feasibility of the 
Council introducing a similar voluntary community contribution scheme to that in 
place in Westminster, which was a way for residents in higher value properties to 
make a voluntary payment in addition to their council tax.  Following assessment of 
the data, it was not felt that this would be feasible in Merton.  Westminster had many 
more band H properties than Merton, and of those properties only approximately 3% 
made additional voluntary payments.  If a similar percentage of the Band H properties 
made additional voluntary payments, it was felt that would cost more to set up and 
administer the scheme than it would bring additional income in to the Council.  He 
thanked the Council for raising the matter and instead encouraged residents to 
support the voluntary sector organisations in the borough by making charitable 
donations.

The Director of Corporate Services advised that officers would continue to monitor 
similar schemes in other boroughs, for example Kensington and Chelsea who were in 
the process of implementing a scheme, however it was not financially viable for 
Merton to implement at this stage.

RESOLVED

Page 4



5

1. That consultation will not be progressed with band H council tax 
residents to establish if a council tax voluntary scheme should be 
implemented.

2. That any benefits to introducing the scheme would not outweigh the likely 
financial losses of implementation, as concluded in paragraph 2.23 of the 
Cabinet report.

9 AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR PROVISION OF CLEANING SERVICES TO 
LBM (Agenda Item 9)

The Chair asked the Cabinet to not refer to the exempt paper as part of the 
discussion so that the public did not have to be excluded from any part of the 
meeting.

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance presented the report and 
thanked officers for their work on the procurement of a contract for the provision of 
cleaning services to the Council.  The quality of the work and commitment to paying 
the Living Wage separated the bidder with the highest score from the other bidders.

RESOLVED

1. That the corporate cleaning services contract be awarded to Tenderer A for a 3 
year period from 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2023 with the option to extend for 
2 x 1 additional years (in increments) for a maximum of 5 years to 31st March 
2025, subject to satisfactory performance at a cost of £1,829,000 for 3 years, or 
£3,048,336 for 5 years.

2. That authority be delegated to the Director of Corporate Services after 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance to approve the additional 2 x 
1 year extensions.

10 FINANCIAL MONITORING SEPTEMBER 2019 (Agenda Item 10)

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance presented the report and 
thanked all involved for their work, welcoming the level of detail.  He highlighted the 
proposed changes to the Capital programme set out in the report and impressed on 
colleagues the importance of careful financial planning.

The Director of Corporate Services drew Members’ attention to paragraph 1.2 of the 
report and advised that the Cabinet would normally consider the draft Business Plan 
at this meeting but this had been deferred due to the uncertainty around the timing of 
the funding announcements from central government.  Therefore the report would be 
considered at the rescheduled Cabinet meeting in December.

The Chair thanked all those involved in producing the report.

RESOLVED

Page 5



6

1. That the financial reporting data for Quarter 2, month 6, relating to revenue 
budgetary control, showing a forecast net positive variance at year-end of 
£1,478k, -0.3% of gross budget be noted.

2. That the contents of Section 4 and the amendments to the Capital Programme 
contained in Appendix 5b of the Cabinet report be noted and the amendments 
in the Table below be approved:
Scheme 2019/20 

Budget
2020/21 
Budget

2021/22 
Budget

2022/23 
Budget

Narrative

Civic Centre 
– Civic 
Centre 
Lighting

(300,000) 300,000 Life 
expectancy 
greater than 
expected – 
slipped to 
2021/22

Highways & 
Footways – 
Highways 
bridges and 
structures

(120,000) 120,000 Re-profiled 
in 
accordance 
with 
projected 
spend

Capital 
Contingency

108,900

School 
Equipment 
Loans

(108,900)

Transferred 
from school 
equipment 
loans to the 
Capital 
Contingency

Total (528,900) 120,000 300,000 108,900

11 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC (Agenda Item 11)

Cabinet noted that the information contained in the exempt appendices would not be 
referred to as part of the discussion and therefore the meeting remained in public 
session.

12 BUS SHELTER, STREET FURNITURE AND ASSOCIATED ADVERTISING 
CONCESSION CONTRACT - APPENDICES (Agenda Item 12)

Cabinet noted that the information contained in the exempt appendices would not be 
referred to as part of the discussion and therefore the decision was taken in public.  The 
text of the decision is set out under item 6 above.

13 AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR PROVISION OF CLEANING SERVICES TO 
LBM - APPENDIX (Agenda Item 13)

Cabinet noted that the information contained in the exempt appendices would not be 
referred to as part of the discussion and therefore the decision was taken in public.  The 
text of the decision is set out under item 9 above.

14 MORDEN TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION - APPENDIX 4 (Agenda Item 

Page 6



7

14)

Cabinet noted that the information contained in the exempt appendices would not be 
referred to as part of the discussion and therefore the decision was taken in public.  The 
text of the decision is set out under item 4 above.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Cabinet
Date: 16 December 2019
Wards: All

Subject:  Local Democracy Week scrutiny exercise on the climate emergency
Lead officer: Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services
Lead member: Councillor Peter Southgate, Chair, Overview and Scrutiny Commission
Contact officer: Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services, 0208 545 3864
Recommendations:
1. That Cabinet consider the report and recommendations arising from the joint 

scrutiny exercise with the youth parliament on the issue of the climate 
emergency – attached as Appendix A;

2. That Cabinet decides how it wishes to respond to the recommendations of the 
joint scrutiny exercise. In particular whether it wishes to accept the 
recommendations and to respond to these through an action plan to be drawn 
up by officers in consultation with the lead Cabinet Member to be designated by 
Cabinet;

3. That Cabinet decides whether it wishes to formally approve this action plan 
prior to it being submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. This report provides Cabinet with information about a Local Democracy 

Week event that scrutiny councillors held jointly with youth parliament 
members in order to give them some experience of the council’s scrutiny 
processes. The theme of the event, chosen by the youth parliament, was the 
climate emergency.

1.2. A report of the event was submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission on 13 November 2019 and is attached as Appendix A.

1.3. The Overview and Scrutiny Commission resolved to forward the 
recommendations to Cabinet for consideration and response. 

2 DETAILS
Joint Reference from the Youth Parliament and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission

2.1. Following the success of the joint scrutiny exercise with the Youth 
Parliament during Local Democracy Week last year, the Commission and 
the Youth Parliament have both agreed to hold another such event this year 
with the theme to be chosen by the Youth Parliament.

2.2. This year’s event was held on Tuesday 15 October 2019 to address the 
question posed by the Youth Parliament - “what is Merton council doing to 
address their responsibilities on climate change in order to secure the future 
of our young residents?”

2.3. The objectives of the event were to:

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



2.4. give young people some experience of and insight into the council’s scrutiny 
processes

2.5. reach agreement on recommendations and future action in respect of work 
on the climate change action plan, including the involvement of young 
people in this work

2.6. The Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Health and the Environment, 
Councillor Tobin Byers, spoke at the start of the event. He welcomed the 
choice of topic and said that the younger generation had led the way on 
raising the profile of climate change so that it is now accepted as a high 
priority. He outlined the public consultation process and the role of the 
climate emergency working group and invited the youth parliament 
representatives to advise on how best to involve young people in this work. 

2.7. The council’s Climate Change Officer, Dominique Hill, gave a presentation 
setting out the council’s approach to the climate emergency, progress to 
date and future plans. A member of the working group, Tom Walshe from 
Sustainable Merton, joined in the ensuing discussion.

2.8. The discussion was wide ranging and included many suggestions from the 
young people. A full report of the meeting is set out in Appendix A. The 
recommendations are listed below for ease of reference:

2.9. RECOMMENDATION 1: that Cabinet should ensure that the council shares 
air quality street maps with schools so that they could be used to inform the 
development of school travels plans in relation to identifying cleaner air 
walking and cycling routes to school

2.10. RECOMMENDATION 2: that Cabinet should identify the most appropriate 
way for the council to facilitate the provision of educational programmes on 
cleaner air routes for schools and parents.

2.11. RECOMMENDATION 3: that Cabinet should work with commercial providers 
to ensure there is an adequate supply of dockless hire bikes for use by 
Merton residents.

2.12. RECOMMENDATION 4: that Cabinet investigate the feasibility of using an 
open air Film Merton event as an opportunity to turn all light sources off for a 
short period of time (perhaps at the start of the event) so that attendees 
could look at the stars.

2.13. RECOMMENDATION 5: Cabinet should use My Merton to promote the 
practice of putting things that you don’t need out on a table in front of your 
home for others to take  – for example fruit, vegetables, books…

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
3.1. Cabinet is constitutionally required to receive, consider and respond to 

scrutiny recommendations within two months of receiving them at a meeting.
3.2. Cabinet is not, however, required to agree and implement recommendations 

from overview and scrutiny. Cabinet could agree to implement some, or 
none, of the recommendations made in the scrutiny report.

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED

Page 10



4.1. Not applicable.
5 TIMETABLE
5.1. The report was approved by the Commission at its meeting on 13 November 

2019 and it was agreed to present the report to Cabinet. Cabinet is asked to 
provide a formal response to the Commission at its meeting on 18 March 
2020.

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
6.1. None for the purposes of this covering report. Any specific resource 

implications will be identified and presented to Cabinet prior to agreeing an 
action plan for implementing the report’s recommendations.

7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
7.1. None for the purposes of this report.
8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS
8.1. None for the purposes of this report.
9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
9.1. None for the purposes of this report.
10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
10.1. None for the purposes of this report.
11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 

PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
Appendix A – report of the joint Youth Parliament and Merton Council 
scrutiny exercise, 15 October 2019

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS
12.1. None

Page 11



Appendix A
Local Democracy Week – joint Youth Parliament and Merton Council Scrutiny 
exercise – climate change, 15 October 2019

Five members of the Youth Parliament (Denise, Laure-Emilia, Leanne, Lia and Rosie) 
plus another young person (Rose) with a particular interest in climate change were 
joined by four scrutiny councillors (Natasha, Paul, Peter and Sally) from the Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission to take part in an exercise to address the question posed by 
the Youth Parliament - “what is Merton council doing to address their responsibilities 
on climate change in order to secure the future of our young residents?”

The objectives of the event were to:

 give young people some experience of and insight into the council’s scrutiny 
processes

 reach agreement on recommendations and future action in respect of work on 
the Climate Action Plan, including the involvement of young people in this work

It was agreed that the Chair of the Youth Parliament, Denise, would chair the meeting. 
Denise said that the Youth Parliament has representatives aged 11-18 and that they 
are passionate about combating climate change.

The lead councillor for climate change work, Councillor Tobin Byers (Cabinet Member 
for Adult Social Care, Health and the Environment) said that this was an important 
topic and that the younger generation had led the way on raising the profile of climate 
change so that it is now accepted as a high priority. Tobin said that the council had 
declared a climate emergency in July 2019 and had targets for the council to become 
carbon neutral by 2030 followed by the whole borough by 2050. He said that this could 
only be achieved through support from government (through new legislation and 
funding) and from local residents and businesses (through behaviour change) and that 
the council has a key role in encouraging people to make the necessary changes.

Tobin outlined the public consultation process that was being followed to develop an 
action plan that would set out the steps towards the 2030 and 2050 targets. This is 
being steered by a working group, Merton’s Climate Emergency Working Group, 
chaired by Tobin, comprising local residents, community organisations (such as 
Sustainable Merton) and people with relevant expertise. Tobin said that the role of 
young people in shaping this work would be crucial and invited the young residents to 
share ideas on the best ways to do this.

Denise invited Dominique Hill, Climate Change Officer, to give a presentation on the 
climate emergency and what the council is doing. The slides are attached to this note 
of the meeting. Dominique drew the attendees’ attention to the main points:

 Merton Council has had a climate change strategy in place since 2009 and has 
already made a start on reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 

 The government has made a commitment that the UK will become carbon 
neutral by 2050; Merton’s borough-wide target is in line with this national target. 

Page 12



 Merton’s target for a carbon neutral council by 2030 was chosen in order to lead 
by example within the borough. 

 Almost half of Merton’s direct greenhouse gas emissions are caused by 
domestic and non-domestic heating.

 Moving to low carbon heating is complex and requires homes to be “retrofitted” 
so that they are energy efficient prior to installation of electric heat pumps.

 Key elements of a low carbon strategy include future energy supply 
infrastructure, building stock, transport, products, waste reduction and 
treatment, investments and green spaces. See slide for more detail.

 The climate emergency working group is looking for one or two young 
representatives.

Dominique explained that the purpose of the public consultation was to engage with as 
many local residents and businesses as possible to find out what people are already 
doing to reduce their carbon footprint, what the key barriers are preventing them from 
doing more, and how these could be overcome. It is anticipated that consultation with 
residents and businesses, with the working group and with teams across the council 
will help identify a long list of potential actions which can then be prioritised; the 
Climate Action Plan will then be taken to Cabinet for approval in early 2020.

Dominique and Tom (Tom Walsh, Sustainable Merton) made further points in 
response to questions:

Solar energy

 The council is currently considering how the climate change policies in Merton’s 
draft Local Plan can be updated to help decarbonise the borough beyond 
regional and national policies. 24 Merton schools currently have solar panels – 
many of these were financed through a scheme whereby the council was able 
to borrow money at a preferential rate. This has reduced energy costs for those 
schools. Bond School in Mitcham has used the savings on electricity costs to 
install movement sensitive lights that turn off when no-one is there, thereby 
generating more savings.

 Rosie said that her school had fundraised for three years to provide solar panels 
but had not been able to afford to cover all the roof space.

Heating

 Lia and Laure-Emilia said that their schools are currently not heated in the most 
efficient way and heating is often on when not needed. Dominique urged them 
to raise this with their schools to reduce their school’s energy demand. 

 Low carbon heating solutions such as heat pumps will also need to be 
considered alongside appropriate energy efficiency retrofit in order to work 
towards decarbonising the borough. Funding mechanisms for this will also need 
to be considered.

Page 13



 Harnessing geothermal energy as a source of heating has limited potential in 
the UK, though there are some examples within Merton including the 
refurbished stable block at Morden Hall National Trust.

 There are several different types of heat pumps, including ground source heat 
pumps that extract heat from the ground. 

Fuel emissions

 Lia expressed concern at NO2 emissions from cars, especially in the vicinity of 
schools. Dominique said that there is an air quality team in the council that is 
working on anti-idling and other measures to improve air quality. 

 The councillors said that they had recently completed a scrutiny review of road 
safety and this had included recommendations that would help to improve air 
quality – ACTION: Julia Regan to send the scrutiny report and Cabinet action 
plan to Chelsea Renehan to share with the Youth Parliament.

 The councillors said that young people are influential in changing parents’ 
behaviour and urged the Youth Parliament to consider how they could take this 
forward.

 Tom suggested that young people could walk to school along quieter roads 
where the air quality is much better. Laure-Emilia and Leanne said they had 
been advised to walk along main roads for personal safety. This was discussed 
and it was agreed that clean air information should be shared in order to 
encourage more people to use those routes and therefore improved personal 
safety along those routes too, including through the establishment of walking 
groups.

RECOMMENDATION 1: that Cabinet should ensure that the council shares air quality 
street maps with schools so that they could be used to inform the development of 
school travel plans in relation to identifying cleaner air walking and cycling routes to 
school

RECOMMENDATION 2: that Cabinet should identify the most appropriate way for the 
council to facilitate the provision of educational programmes on cleaner air routes for 
schools and parents.

 Rose suggested that the council should talk to other boroughs to improve 
walking and cycling routes that cross borough boundaries and to promote 
sustainable travel. Dominique undertook to raise this with pan London climate 
officer groups.

Cycling

 Laure-Emilia commented on the lack of new clearly defined cycling routes in 
Merton and asked if the council could ask for more. Peter said there had been a 
bidding round but that Merton had not been successful. However Kingston had 
which is why there is a cycle route between the two boroughs. He said that it 
would be helpful to have a London-wide approach to this rather than piecemeal 

Page 14



bidding processes. Dominique undertook to raise this issue with the pan London 
group.

 Rosie and Lia said that the new dockless hire bikes were a good idea and cost 
efficient for people who want to cycle now and then. Dominique highlighted the 
benefits of sharing resources such as bikes and cars through car clubs in 
reducing our carbon footprint.

RECOMMENDATION 3: that Cabinet should work with commercial providers to ensure 
there is an adequate supply of dockless hire bikes for use by Merton residents

Light pollution

 Leanne said that there is a high level of light pollution in Merton and that, 
although safety is important, there may be street and other lights on that are not 
necessary. She suggested that the council could hold an event at which lights 
were turned off so that people could see the stars.

RECOMMENDATION 4: that Cabinet investigate the feasibility of using an open air  
Film Merton event as an opportunity to turn all light sources off for a short period of 
time (perhaps at the start of the event) so that attendees could look at the stars.

Recycling

 Merton’s approach to the disposal of recyclables and landfill waste will be fully 
investigated as part of the climate emergency work.

 Recycling is important but is just a small part of the solution. It is better to reuse 
items, such as clothes,  and to avoid buying products with unnecessary 
packaging  in the first instance before recycling. Tom said consumers have a 
choice on who they buy products from and can use this to put pressure on 
suppliers.

 The youth parliament representatives asked for more bins on the street for 
recycling plastics and pointed out that there is no plastics-recycling receptacle in 
the Civic Centre’s reception area.

Council activity

 The role of the council’s procurement systems and existing contracts in working 
towards becoming carbon neutral will also be considered in the climate action 
plan. 

 The council’s targets for 2030 and 2050 were carefully considered and drew on 
the globally accepted evidence in the IPCC’s special report on Global Warming 
of 1.5C (2018). 

 Dominique undertook to find out what the council is doing to promote walking 
and cycling for young people. 

 Natasha (Councillor Natasha Irons, Chair, Sustainable Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel) undertook to invite Youth Parliament representatives to the 

Page 15



February meeting of the Panel so that they could join in the discussion of the 
sustainable travel agenda item.

There was a discussion about what would be the one significant thing that people 
could do to contribute to combatting the climate emergency. Various suggestions were 
made including reducing meat consumption, less plastic packaging, buying fewer 
clothes, borrowing books from the library rather than buying books, eating local 
produce (consider food air miles). Tom said that Sustainable Merton was producing a 
list of “100 things you can do to save the planet”. Dominique directed the group to the 
‘What you can do’ section on the council’s Climate Emergency web pages. 

RECOMMENDATION 5: Cabinet should use My Merton to promote the practice of 
putting things that you don’t need out on a table in front of your home for others to take 
– for example fruit, vegetables, books…

The youth parliament members suggested that the climate emergency consultation 
should reach out to young people through schools and youth groups. Their previous 
experience is that face-to-face consultation methods are more successful in reaching 
young people than online methods.

The youth parliament members and councillors AGREED that the note of this meeting 
should be presented to a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission so that 
the recommendations could be endorsed and referred to Cabinet for consideration. 

Page 16



Committee: Cabinet
Date: 16 December 2019
Wards: All

Subject:  Scrutiny of the Business Plan 2020-2024: comments and 
recommendations from the overview and scrutiny panels

Lead officer: Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services
Lead member: Councillor Peter Southgate, Chair of Overview & Scrutiny
Contact officer: Julia Regan; Julia.regan@merton.gov.uk; 020 8545 3864
Recommendations:

1. That Cabinet, in taking decisions relating to the Business Plan 2020-24, 
takes into account the comments and recommendations made by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission and the outcomes of consideration by 
the Overview and Scrutiny Panels.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. To inform Cabinet of the recommendations and comments resulting from pre 

decision scrutiny of the Business Plan 2020-24 by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission and Overview and Scrutiny Panels at their November 
2019 meetings. 

2 DETAILS
2.1. Each of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels and the Overview and Scrutiny 

Commission has examined the budget and business plan proposals relating 
to the service areas within their remit. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission has also received the findings of the Panels. 

2.2. The Overview and Scrutiny Commission met on 13 November 2019 and 
RESOLVED to forward to Cabinet the comments and recommendations 
made by the Overview and Scrutiny Panels. These are set out in Appendix 
1. 

2.3. The Commissioned scrutinised the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy in 
detail, noting the unprecedented level of uncertainty and discussed the 
current assumptions on inflation, pay provision, reserves, potential adult 
social care precept and the funding of the Dedicated Schools Grant deficit..

2.4. The Commission discussed and asked questions of clarification on the 
savings and growth items and the future capital programme relating to 
Corporate Services.

2.5. The Commission RESOLVED to send the following reference to Cabinet: 
“The Overview and Scrutiny Commission notes the difficulties currently 
faced by the administration in setting a balanced budget and drafting the 
medium term financial strategy. The Commission therefore asks Cabinet to 
join the Local Government Association and London Councils in lobbying the 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



government to release additional monies to meet the cost pressures faced 
by local councils (especially in children’s services) and to provide a multi-
year funding settlement rather than the current, short term approach for the 
year ahead only”.

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
3.1. Cabinet is required under the terms of the constitution to receive, consider 

and respond to recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny. 

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
4.1. The Constitution contains the requirements for consulting scrutiny on the 

budget and business plan.  There is an initial phase of scrutiny in November 
each year, with the second round in January/February representing the 
formal consultation of scrutiny on the proposed Business Plan, Budget and 
Capital Programme.

5 TIMETABLE
5.1. Round one of scrutiny of the 2020-24 Business Plan was undertaken as 

follows:-

 Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 30 October 2019

 Healthier Communities & Older People Scrutiny Panel: 5 November 2019

 Children & Young People Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 6 November 2019

 Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 13 November 2019
5.2. Comments and recommendations from round one will be reported to Cabinet 

on 16 December 2019.
5.3. Round two of scrutiny of the Business Plan is planned as follows:-

 Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 8 January 2020

 Children & Young People Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 15 January 2020

 Healthier Communities & Older People Scrutiny Panel: 9 January 2020

 Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 22 January 2020
5.4. The responses from round two will be presented to Cabinet on 10 February 

2020.  A meeting of full Council will then take place on 4 March 2020. 

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS
6.1. These are detailed in the substantive reports elsewhere on this agenda and 

in the reports considered by Cabinet on 14 October 2019.       
7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
7.1. The process for developing the budget and business plan is set out in Part 

4C of the Council’s Constitution.  The role of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission and panels with regard to the development of the budget and 
business plan is set out in Part 4E of the Constitution.       

Page 18



7.2. The legal and statutory implications relating to the Business Plan are 
contained in the reports elsewhere on this agenda.

8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS

8.1. None directly relating to this report.
9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
9.1. None directly relating to this report.
10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
10.1. None directly relating to this report.
11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 

PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
 Appendix 1: comments and recommendations made by the scrutiny 

panels in relation to the Business Plan 2020-24.
12 BACKGROUND PAPERS
12.1. None

Page 19



Appendix 1

References/Comments from Scrutiny Panels to the Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission 13 November 2019
Scrutiny of the Business Plan 2020-2024

Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel, 30 October 2019 
The Panel discussed each of the new savings proposals and asked questions of 
clarification. 
Councillor Daniel Holden raised a motion with regards to ENV1920-01 which is the 
Parking Services application to change Merton’s PCN charge band from band B to 
band A. The motion was seconded by Councillor David Dean and debated by the 
Panel. 
The Panel unanimously RESOLVED to make the following reference to Cabinet:
“This Panel recommends to Cabinet that the proposed saving of ENV1920-01 be 
accepted on the proviso that the key locations that give rise to PCN’s are checked and 
reviewed by the Highways inspectors to ensure that the appropriate signage, layout 
and road markings are clear and therefore not unfairly penalising residents.
Once the review is concluded, the results should be brought to the Sustainable 
Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel for comment”.

Healthier Communities & Older People Overview and Scrutiny Panel, 5 November
The Panel discussed the report and the one proposed saving in relation to its remit.
No reference was made to Cabinet.

Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel, 6 November 2019
The Panel discussed the report and the savings in relation to its remit.
Although the Panel chose not made a reference, it did express concern at the growth 
on Educational Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) which can be costly and therefore 
contribute to financial pressures..

Page 20



 
 

 

Cabinet 
Date: 16 December 2019 
 
Subject:  Financial Report 2019/20 – October 2019 
Lead officer: Roger Kershaw 
 

Lead member: Mark Allison 
 

Recommendations: 

A. That Cabinet note the financial reporting data for month 7, October 2019, relating to revenue 
budgetary control, showing a forecast net underspend at year-end of £1,068k, -0.2% of 
gross budget.  

B. That Cabinet approves £165,620 from the Outstanding Council Programme Board (OCPB) 
Reserve relating to the Chidren, Schools and Families Merton Improvement Board (MIB) 
project bid  for the scanning and digital archiving of files.  

C. That Cabinet note the contents of Section 4 and approve the amendments to the Capital 
programme Contained in Appendix 5b. 
That Cabinet note the contents of Section 4 and the amendments to the Capital Programme 
contained in Appendix 5b and approve the amendments in the Table below: 

D. That Cabinet note that there will be a separate report on the wider impact of the DSG on the 
MTFS to the January 2020 Cabinet meeting. 

 

Scheme 2019/20 
Budget  

2020/21 
Budget  

2021/22 
Budget  

2022/23 
Budget  Narrative 

Business Systems- Capita Housing (100,000) 100,000     Re-profiled in accordance with projected spend 
Customer Contact (150,000) 150,000     Re-profiled in accordance with projected spend 
Library Enhancement Works- West Barnes Library 
Re-fit (200,000) 200,000     Re-profiled in accordance with projected spend 

Disabled Facilities Grants 100,000 647,100     Additional budget funded by grant 
Unallocated Primary School Project (157,000)       Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Morden Area Regeneration- Transportation 
Enhancements (500,000)     500,000 Re-profiled in accordance with projected spend 

Total  (1,007,00) 1,097,100 0 500,000   

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
1.1 This is the financial monitoring report for period 7, 31st October 2019 presented in line with 

the financial reporting timetable.  
This financial monitoring report provides - 
• The income and expenditure at period 7 and a full year forecast projection. 
• An update on the capital programme and detailed monitoring information; 
• An update on Corporate Items in the budget 2019/20; 
• Progress on the delivery of the 2019/20 revenue savings 

 
2. THE FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS 

     
2.1 The budget monitoring process in 2019/20 continues to focus on children’s social care, 

which overspent in 2018/19 and continues to have budget pressures. There are also 
significant pressures on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) which are being  monitored.  

2.2 Chief Officers, together with budget managers and Service Financial Advisers are 
responsible for keeping budgets under close scrutiny and ensuring that expenditure within 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 

budgets which are overspending is being actively and vigorously controlled and where 
budgets are underspent, these underspends are retained until year end. Any final overall 
overspend on the General Fund will result in a call on balances; however this action is not 
sustainable longer term. 

2.3 2019/20 FORECAST OUTTURN BASED UPON LATEST AVAILABLE DATA  
 

   Executive summary – At period 7 to 31st October 2019, the year-end forecast is a net 
£1,068k underspend compared to the current budget. This excludes any monies due from 
the last year of the Business Rates London Pilot Pool. 

 
    Summary Position as at 31st October 2019 

  

Current 
Budget 
2019/20 

Full Year 
Forecast 

(Oct) 

Forecast 
Variance 

at year end 
(Oct) 

Forecast 
Variance 

at year end 
(Sept) 

Outturn 
variance 
2018/19 

  £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 
Department           
3A.Corporate Services 11,495 11,204 (291) (342) (2,511) 
3B.Children, Schools and Families 61,361 62,573 1,212 1,581 2,271 
3C.Community and Housing 63,747 63,713 (34) (610) (197) 
3D.Public Health 0 12 12 12 0 
3E.Environment & Regeneration 15,968 15,300 (668) (820) (1,526) 
Overheads 0 0 0 0 (33) 
NET SERVICE EXPENDITURE 152,570 152,802 232 (178) (1,996) 
            
3E.Corporate Items           
Impact of Capital on revenue budget 10,481 10,332 (149) (149) 403 
Other Central budgets (20,735) (21,886) (1,151) (1,151) (6,064) 
Levies 949 949 0 0 0 
TOTAL CORPORATE PROVISIONS (9,305) (10,605) (1,300) (1,300) (5,661) 

            

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 143,265 142,197 (1,068) (1,478) (7,657) 

FUNDING           
Revenue Support Grant 0 0 0 0 0 
Business Rates (44,026) (44,026) 0 0 0 
Other Grants (8,169) (8,169) 0 0 0 
Council Tax and Collection Fund (91,070) (91,070) 0 0 0 
FUNDING (143,265) (143,265) 0 0 0 
            
NET 0 (1,068) (1,068) (1,478) (7,657) 

 
The current level of GF balances is £13.778m and the minimum level reported to Council for this is 
£12.53m.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 
 

 

3. DEPARTMENTAL SUMMARY OF CURRENT POSITION  
  
Corporate Services 

 

 Division 
2019/20 
Current 
Budget 

2019/20 
Full year 
Forecast 
(October) 

 
2019/20 

Full Year 
Forecast 
Variance 
(October) 

 
2019/20 Full 

Year 
Forecast 
Variance 

(September) 

 
2018/19 
Outturn 
Variance 

  £000 £000 £000 £000     £000 
Customers, 
Policy & 
Improvement 

3,710 3,585 (125) (139) (246) 

Infrastructure 
& Technology 11,795 12,076 281 269 (64) 

Corporate 
Governance 2,438 2,310 (128) (120) (294) 

Resources 5,887 5,813 (73) (246) (707) 

Human 
Resources 1,919 2,149 230 230 16 

Corporate 
Other 834 359 (476) (336) (1,216) 

Total 
(Controllable) 26,583 26,292 (291) (342) (2,511) 

 
Overview  
At the end of period 7 (October) the Corporate Services (CS) department is forecasting an 
underspend of £291k at year end. The underspend forecast has reduced by £51k since 
period 6 (September).  
 
Customers, Policy and Improvement - £125k under 
Customer Contact is forecasting a £59k underspend due to lower than budgeted licence 
costs. There is a forecast underspend of £49k on Cash Collections, capturing future year 
savings early in 2019/20. The Translations Service has a forecast underspend of £24k, 
mainly as a result of additional income from internal translation requests compared to the 
budgeted amount and a vacancy within the team. Marketing and Communications have a 
£45k underspend forecast from less than budgeted spend on the council magazine and 
graphic design. A further £48k underspend is forecast on Community Engagement, this is a 
result of maternity leave in the team and other underspends on running costs. 
  
A £19k overspend is forecast on the Registrars Service relating to various running cost 
budgets such as ground maintenance and marketing as well as a partially underachieved 
staffing saving in year (2019-20 CS05). This is partly offset by the overachievement of 
income; however, income for 19/20 is expected to be £61k less than that achieved in 18/19 
due to the Home Office no longer providing additional work. Additionally, Press and PR are 
forecasting a £46k overspend due to the underachievement of income and the use of agency 
staff. 
 
The forecast underspend in CPI has reduced by £14k since period 6. This is mainly due to 
an increased agency forecast within Press and PR.  
 
 

Page 23



 
 

 

Infrastructure & Technology - £281k over 
I&T are forecasting overspends on Telecoms of £58k due to delays in the PABX telecoms 
implementation and £69k on the Professional Development Centre (Chaucer Centre) due to 
the underachievement of rental income. There is also a £200k overspend forecast for 
Microsoft Licences which is a best estimate of the cost at this stage, pending the outcome of 
a procurement exercise.  Facilities Management are forecasting a £36k overspend reflecting 
the use of agency staff and only a partial achievement of a saving in year (2018-19 CS04) 
following a recent restructure of the energy team. Facilities are forecasting a further £51k 
overspend on the external fees account due to the use of additional agency staff during the 
year. The Business Systems Team is also forecasting an overspend of £82k due to 
recruitment costs, hardware purchases, IT licences and the underachievement of income. 
 
Various underspends within the division are partly offsetting the above overspends. The Print 
and Post Room are forecasting a £40k underspend with a vacancy held in the team.  The 
Corporate Print Strategy is forecasting a £54k underspend due to less than budgeted multi-
functional device (MFD) costs. Additionally, Transactional Services are forecasting a £63k 
underspend resulting from the recovery of expenses in previous years and there is a £71k 
underspend forecast on Garth Road Archive Storage due to rental income. 
 
The forecast overspend in I&T has increased by £12k since period 6. This is mainly due to 
an increased IT support and maintenance forecast in the Business Systems Team which is 
partly offset with increased room bookings income from the Professional Development Centre 
(Chaucer Centre). 
 
Corporate Governance – £128k under 
The underspend within Corporate Governance is formed of £21k from various running cost 
budgets held by the AD, £31k from Democracy Services largely due to vacancies and £15k 
running costs. A further £38k underspend is forecast in the Information Governance team 
due to vacancies and consultants budget not required in year. Additionally, Legal Services 
outside of SLLp are forecasting a £30k underspend due to expenditure budgets not required 
in year. 
 
The South London Legal Partnership (SLLp) is forecasting a £10k deficit, of which £2k is 
attributable to Merton. The SLLp deficit has reduced from £66k in period 6 largely due to 
increased chargeable hours income from partners. 
 
The forecast underspend on Corporate Governance has increased by £8k from the position 
at period 6. This is mainly due to the improved SLLp position. 
 
Resources - £73k under  
There are various underspends forecast within Senior Management, made up of the Chief 
Executive’s budget (£40k under), Director of Corporate Services (£76k under) and AD 
Resources (£43k under) due to subscription and consultancy budgets not expected to be 
required in year.  
 
Accountancy has a £87k overspend forecast on Corporate Accountancy and £9k overspend 
on the Budget Management Team largely due to agency spend. 
 
A £80k overspend is forecast on the Financial Information System (FIS) team mainly due to 
additional system support costs, with a business case pending to review ongoing budget 
pressures within the team.  
 

Page 24



 
 

 

The Insurance and Treasury teams are forecasting an overspend of £103k due to property 
valuation fees ahead of a re-tendering of insurance contracts, partly offset by a recharge of 
staff time to the pension fund.  
 
The Merton and Sutton Bailiff Services are forecasting to underspend by £116k due to 
additional income in excess of the budget. Benefits Administration is forecasting a £260k 
underspend mainly due to additional income from DWP for various schemes though this is in 
part offset by agency spend. There is a forecast overspend of £197k on Local Taxation 
Services due to various running costs and agency spend which is not fully offset by additional 
income relating to the cost of collection for NDR and council tax.  
 
The forecast underspend in the Resources division has reduced by £172k compared to 
period 6. This is largely due to property valuation fees for insurance, increased agency spend 
in the Budget Management Team following appointment of interims to cover vacant posts, an 
increased forecast on the Financial Information System for system support and a reduced 
summons income forecast on local taxation services as the dates we can apply to courts for 
summonses has changed. These have been partly offset by reduced banking charges, 
reduced agency usage in Benefits Administration and an improved position on the Sutton 
Bailiff Service.  
 
Human Resources – £230k over 
Learning and Development is forecasting a £142k overspend due to recruitment costs as well 
as interim cover for the Head of Organisational Development and HR Strategy post. £57k of 
the L&D overspend relates to training, a review of the planned training for the rest of the year 
is being carried out and the forecast will be updated in line with this in the coming months. 
The overspend forecast in Learning and Development also includes an additional temporary 
resource to assist with implementing the new recruitment system.  
 
The HR AD budget is also forecasting an overspend of £48k due to the interim cover of the 
Head of HR post and recruitment costs. A significant budget pressure within HR is from the 
Transactions budget which is currently forecasting a £75k overspend. This is due to a £15k 
budget pressure on DBS recharges to clients, which no longer include an internal admin 
charge as the work is carried out by the London Borough of Kingston, and the remainder 
relates to the shared payroll system and iTrent client team charges, also by the London 
Borough of Kingston.  The underachievement of schools buyback income is also contributing 
to the HR overspend.  
 
Payroll has an underspend forecast of £30k as a result of a restructure in year, which captures 
part of a future year saving early, and a vacancy held in the team.  

 
Overall the HR overspend has remained at the same level since period 6.  

 
Corporate Items - £476k under  
The Housing Benefit Rent Allowances budget shows a forecast surplus of £1.23m on the 
account against a budgeted surplus of £1m. The additional surplus relates to a £500k 
underspend against the budget to top-up the bad debt provision, part offset by an 
overpayment recovery shortfall.  
 
An additional surplus of £80k is forecast following the introduction of a scheme to recover old 
housing benefit debts which had previously been written off, due to new access to information 
from HMRC. The corporately funded items budget has a forecast underspend of £115k due 
to budget not expected to be required in year. 
 

Page 25



 
 

 

The Coroners Court is forecasting an overspend of £46k, incorporating a contingency for 
additional charges from Westminster. This part offsets with £40k additional income from the 
Magistrates court. A further £38k underspend is forecast on the pensions added years 
budget. 
 
The forecast underspend on corporate items has increased by £138k since period 6 due to 
an increased recovery of old housing benefit debts and the recognition of budget not required 
in year on the corporately funded items account. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 
 

 

Environment & Regeneration 
 

Environment & 
Regeneration  
    
  
 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 

 
 
 

£000 

Full year 
Forecast 

(Oct) 
 
 
 

£000 

Forecast 
Variance 
at year 

end  
(Oct) 

 
£000 

Forecast 
Variance 
at year 

end  
(Sept) 

 
£000 

2018/19 
Outturn 
Variance  

 
 
 

£000 
Public Protection (13,030) (13,179) (149) 30 (753) 
Public Space 14,629 14,307 (322) (515) (1,449) 
Senior Management 975 1,090 115 103 (17) 
Sustainable Communities 8,230 7,917 (313) (438) 694 
Total (Controllable) 10,804 10,135 (669) (820) (1,525) 

 
 
 

Description 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 

 
 

£000 

Forecast 
Variance at 

year end 
(Oct) 

 
 
 

£000 

Forecast 
Variance at 

year end 
(Sept) 

 
 

£000 

2018/19 
Variance at 

year end 
 
 

£000 

Overspend within Regulatory Services 640 67 65 112 
Underspend within Parking Services (14,541) (338) (164) (964) 
Overspend within Safer Merton & CCTV 871 122 129 99 
Total for Public Protection (13,030) (149) 30 (753) 
Underspend within Waste Services 13,672 (127) (239) (1,611) 
Underspend within Leisure & Culture 416 (254) (253) (222) 
Overspend within Greenspaces 1,236 23 (57) 145 
Overspend within Transport Services (695) 36 34 239 
Total for Public Space 14,629 (322) (515) (1,449) 
Overspend within Senior Management & Support 975 115 103 (17) 
Total for Senior Management & Support 975 115 103 (17) 
Underspend within Property Management (2,691) (199) (234) 368 
Underspend within Building & Development Control 4 (73) (119) 275 
Underspend within Future Merton 10,917 (41) (85) 51 
Total for Sustainable Communities  8,230 (313) (438) 694 
     
Total Excluding Overheads 10,804 (669) (820) (1,525) 

 
 
Overview 
The department is currently forecasting an underspend of £669k at year end. The main areas of 
variance are Parking Services, Safer Merton & CCTV, Waste Services, Leisure & Culture, Senior 
Management & Support, and Property Management. 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



 
 

 

 
Public Protection 
 
Parking Services underspend of £338k 
The underspend is mainly as a result of additional penalty charge notices being issued, following 
the implementation of the ANPR system across the borough (£749k), and P&D income (£498k). 
 
The section has a £1,900k saving this year relating to the review of parking charges, based on an 
October start date. Cabinet approved a revised set of charges in September and officers are 
preparing to follow the statutory order making process. The forecast reflects a prudent approach to 
the delayed implementation, and associated income of £950k. 
 
Safer Merton & CCTV overspend of £122k 
The section is forecasting to overspend on annual network and connection costs by £28k, and by 
c£40k on one-off CCTV upgrade and relocation costs. In addition, the CCTV section has a 
2019/20 saving of £100k relating to charging local businesses for monitoring of their CCTV, which 
will not be achieved, coupled with the underachievement of its current income budget by £49k.  
 
Elsewhere within the section, underspends on employees (£30k) and income contributions (£65k) 
are helping to partially mitigate these pressures.  
 
The CCTV budgets are currently being reviewed by the Safer Merton & CCTV manager and the 
AD of Public Protection in order to mitigate these pressures, which may include an alternative 
saving being presented to Cabinet in due course. 
 
 
Public Space 
 
Waste Services underspend of £127k 
The section is forecast to underspend on disposal costs by £559k. Following the introduction of 
the new wheelie bin service we have seen a significant reduction in the level of general refuse 
being collected and disposed of through our energy waste facility at Beddington, alleviating the 
need for landfill and the associated landfill tax charges.   
 
Over this period, we have seen a 12% reduction in refuse, which equates to a monthly average 
reduction of over 500 tonnes per month this financial year. The main contributor to this success is 
the increase in food waste participation which has seen an increase of over 66% or 184 tonnes 
per month. 
 
This underspend is being partially offset by an overspend on its waste collection and street 
cleansing contract of £275k.  This is largely due to the internal debt charge of £676k for capital 
spend, along with recharges for additional services being undertaken by the service provider. 
 
The section is also forecasting to overspend on its employee costs by £99k, which is mainly due to 
a delay in fully implementing a 2018/19 saving (ENR6 £200k), and the temporary employment of a 
Public Space Inspector which will be in place for six months to provide greater resilience in the 
monitoring of our service provider performance. 
 
 
 
Leisure & Culture underspend of £254k 
The forecast underspend is mainly as a result of the final year, under the previous contractual 
agreement, of the profit share arrangement with our service provider for the Leisure Centres 
Contract (£214k).  Changes to this contract came into effect from 1st December 2018, which has 

Page 28



 
 

 

resulted in future guaranteed annual income, now being built into the Medium Term budget. Due 
to this guaranteed income the likelihood of future profit shares is now unlikely. 
 
 
Senior Management & Support 
 
Senior Management & Support overspend of £115k 
The overspend relates to the parking review project currently being undertaken to analyse and 
develop the Council’s staff travel plans and reduction in car use. 
 
 
Sustainable Communities 
 
Property Management underspend of £199k 
The principal reason for the forecast underspend relates to exceeding the commercial rental income 
expectations by £716k, which includes £150k of one-off income from conducting the backlog of rent 
reviews in line with the tenancy agreements.  
 
This is being partially offset by an overspend of £432k on premises related expenditure, in particular, 
utility and repairs & maintenance costs. In addition, a £102k overspend on supplies & services is 
being forecast, mainly relating to employment of consultants to progress rent reviews due to lack of 
internal resource, and valuations to support asset valuations. 
 
 
  

Page 29



 
 

 

Children Schools and Families 
 
 
Children, Schools and Families 
 

 
2019/20 
Current 
Budget 

£000 

 
Full year 
Forecast 

Oct 
 £000 

Forecast 
Variance 
at year 

end (Oct) 
£000 

Forecast 
Variance 
at year 

end (Sep) 
£000 

2018/19 
Variance 
at year 

end 
£000 

Education 24,894 25,173 279 310 (37) 
Social Care and Youth Inclusion 19,571 21,343 1,772 2,128 3,211 
Cross Department budgets 1,029 997 (32) (30) (20) 
PFI 8,573 8,135 (438) (459) (354) 
Redundancy costs 2,183 1,814 (369) (368) (529) 
Total (controllable) 56,250 57,462 1,212 1,581 2,271 

 
Overview 
 
At the end of October Children Schools and Families forecast to overspend by £1,212m on local 
authority funded services, a reduction in overspend of £369k from September’s outturn forecast. 
The pressure is mainly due to the volatile nature of placement and SEN transport budgets, and the 
current volume of CSC activity and Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) requests. Despite an 
increasing population, Merton has managed to hold steady our number of children in care through 
a combination of actions, which are detailed in the management action section below. However, 
EHCP numbers continue to rise from 1,941 in September to 1,957 in October, an increase of 16.  
 
The CSF department received £500k growth for 2019/20 which was all allocated against the SEN 
transport cost due to the continuing pressure in this area.  
 
Local Authority Funded Services 

The table below details the significant budget variances identified to date: 
 

Description 
Budget 

£000 
Oct 
£000 

Sep 
£000 

2018/19 
£000 

Procurement & School organisation 594 (202) (200) (411) 
SEN transport 4,705 1,097 1,097 1,223 
Early Years services 3,117 (216) (206) (349) 
CWD team staffing 571 (72) (72) (88) 
Internal legal hard charge 543 (133) (144) (32) 
Other small over and underspends 15,364 (195) (165) (380) 
Subtotal Education 24,894 279 310 (37) 
Fostering and residential placements (ART) 7,111 696 696 1,057 
Un-accompanied asylum seeking children (UASC) 75 281 551 488 
Community Placement 0 385 385 500 
No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) 21 141 141 301 
MASH & First Response staffing 1,618 311 267 354 
Legal costs 526 224 209 280 
Other small over and underspends 10,220 (266) (121) 231 
Subtotal Children’s Social Care and Youth Inclusion 19,571 1,772 2,128 3,211 

Education Division 
 
The procurement and school organisation budget is forecast to underspend by £202k because of 
lower spend on revenuisation budgets. This budget relates to the revenue cost of construction 
projects and is affected by slippage of capital schemes. The majority of this is used for temporary 

Page 30



 
 

 

classrooms usually required due to rising pupil demand when it is not viable to provide permanent 
buildings. 
 
The SEN transport budget is forecast to overspend by £1.097m. The forecast for maintained school 
taxis is £3.569m, circa £284k more than last year. This is our best estimate based on the information 
available at the end of October. The current estimated cost includes a small forecast for new 
placements that may be required towards the end of the year. There is a risk that this cost can 
increase more than currently allowed for as we have seen a major increase in the number of EHCPs, 
although not all plans will necessarily be eligible for support under Merton’s transport policy. To 
support the cost pressure in this area, the £500k growth allocated to the department in 2019/20 has 
been allocated against this budget. However, this has been insufficient to cover the full extent of the 
growth in this area. 
 
As part of management action to reduce the overall in-year departmental overspend, where possible 
in the Early Years’ service, recruitment to vacancies is being delayed. At the end of September this 
is estimated to deliver a £216k underspend. 
 
The Children with Disabilities (CWD) team, which transferred to the Education division this year, is 
holding vacant posts which is expected to deliver a £72k underspend in the current financial year. 
Some of this underspend is being used to offset agreed social work activities in the fostering service. 
 
The internal legal hard charging budget is estimated to underspend by £133k. This forecast is based 
on spend to date and will fluctuate if usage increases towards year-end. 
 
There are various other small over and underspends forecast across the division netting to a £195k 
underspend. These combine with the items described above to arrive at the total divisional 
overspend forecast of £279k. 
 
Children’s Social Care and Youth Inclusion Division 
 
At the end of October Merton had 161 looked after children (LAC). This is a decrease of 3 children 
from September. The numbers of Looked after Children (LAC) in Merton remain relatively stable 
and we continue to maintain relatively low levels of children in care as detailed in the table below: 
 
Overview 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 
Number of children in care as at 31st March 163 152 154 160 
Of which UASC 22 20 28 34 
Rate per 10,000 35 33 33 34 
London Rate 51 50 49 tbc 
England Rate 60 62 64 tbc 

The complexity of a significant proportion of cases is causing cost pressures as detailed below.  
  Oct Variance Placements 
 
Service 

Budget 
£000 

forecast 
£000 

Oct 
£000 

Sep 
£000 

Oct 
No 

Sep 
No 

Residential Placements 2,305 2,005 (300) (300) 15 15 
Independent Agency 
Fostering 

1,753 1,953 200 200 42 41 

In-house Fostering 993 1,697 704 704 70 68 
Secure accommodation 138 138 0 0 0 1 
Mother and baby 103 103 0 0 0 1 
Supported lodgings/housing 1,819 1,911 92 92 61 58 
Total 7,111 7,807 696 696 188 184 

Page 31



 
 

 

 
The ART service seeks to make placements with in-house foster carers wherever possible and in 
line with presenting needs, however, the capacity within our in-house provision and the needs of 
some looked after children mean that placements with residential care providers or independent 
fostering agencies are required. Some specific provision is mandated by the courts. 
The placement forecasts includes a prediction of costs expected for known placements as well as 
an estimated cost for movement in placements, including new cases, expected during the year. 
These assumptions are reviewed and updated every month and estimates adjusted accordingly to 
provide our best estimate of full year costs. 

• The Residential placement expenditure is forecast to underspend by £300k at the end of the 
financial year. We currently have 15 residential (including 10 respite). 

• The Independent Agency Fostering expenditure is forecast to overspend by £200k. We 
currently have 42 placements, an increase of one placement from last month. The cost 
difference of the increased placement is contained within the expected movement built into 
the full year estimated cost.  

• The In-house Foster carer expenditure is forecast to overspend by £704k. We currently have 
70 placements. There has been 2 new placements during October. The cost difference of 
this change in placements is contained within the expected movement built into the full year 
estimated cost.   

• The Youth Justice secure accommodation expenditure is projected to spend to budget in 
October. We currently have no placements but are forecasting for additional placements 
expected by the end of financial year.  

• The mother and baby assessment unit expenditure is forecast budget for the current year. 
We currently have no placements but are forecasting for additional placements expected by 
the end of financial year. 

• We are forecasting that the budget for the semi-independent accommodation and supported 
lodgings/housing placements will overspend by £92k in October. There has been 5 new 
placements while 2 placements ended. The cost difference of this change in placements is 
contained within the expected movement built into the full year estimated cost. 

• At the end of October, UASC placements and previous UASC that are now Care Leavers 
were forecasting to overspend by £273k, down from £551k in September. This is mainly due 
to an increased forecast in UASC grant expected based on the latest information available. 
 

  Oct Variance Placements 
 
Service 

Budget 
£000 

forecast 
£000 

Oct 
£000 

Sep 
£000 

Oct 
No 

Sep 
No 

Independent Agency Fostering 380 496 116 111 12 13 
In-house Fostering 325 685 360 660 33 32 
Supported lodgings/housing 570 675 105 505 24 24 
UASC grant (1,200) (1,500) (300) (725)   
Total 75 356 281 551 69 69 
 
At the end of October, we had 35 placements for UASC young people under 18. Of these, 33 were 
placed in foster care and 2 in semi-independent accommodation. The administration’s commitment 
(in line with other London Labour Councils) for Merton is 37 (0.08% of the child population). We 
receive UASC grant towards these placements although it is not sufficient to cover the full cost of 
placement, subsistence and social work intervention.  

Page 32



 
 

 

Merton had 42 young people aged 18+ who were formerly UASC in our care at the end of 
September, 12 in foster care, 22 in semi-independent accommodation and 8 who received non-
accommodation related support. Once UASC young people reach age 18, we retain financial 
responsibility for them as Care Leavers until their immigration status is resolved. 
We are currently forecasting to ‘over-achieve’ our projected UASC grant income by £300k. The grant 
income is offset against the additional costs incurred through having higher numbers of UASC in 
our care. 
 
We are estimating a £385k spend on the un-budgeted community placement for the current financial 
year. This includes a £485k estimated cost for 2019/20 reduced by an over accrual in 2018/19 of 
£100k. The figure is our best current estimate and is subject to change as the case is extremely 
complex and regularly reviewed. Forecast costs are currently based on an interim arrangement in 
place while further work is undertaken to secure the right long term support arrangements, although 
it may not be possible to establish permanent arrangements until the young person is an adult.   
 
The NRPF budget is forecast to overspend by £141k in the current financial year. This is £160k less 
than last year’s overspend. The NRPF worker is working closely with housing colleagues to manage 
cases as they arise and also reviews historic cases to identify ones where claimant circumstances 
have changed and they can therefore be stepped down from services. We continue to use the 
Connect system to progress cases and continue to review open cases with the aim to limit the cost 
pressure on the council. Strong enquiry and assessment approaches have resulted in a reduction 
of overall numbers from a peak of 30 in 2016/17 to a current caseload of 6 families where we support 
9 children with accommodation and 6 with subsistence. 
 
We are forecasting to overspend by £311k on the MASH and First Response teams’ staffing costs. 
This is because the team is covering 11 vacancies out of an establishment of 30 with agency staff 
due to difficulty in recruiting permanent members of staff in this area. 
 
Legal costs are forecast to overspend by £224k, up from £209 in September. This cost relates to 
third party legal fees including Counsel, court and medical fees as well as independent expert 
witness and Family Drug and Alcohol Court (FDAC) costs. The investment in the FDAC is intended 
to reduce placement costs due to fewer children coming into care. The evidence is that this is 
effective in those cases that go through the FDAC process, but that this is more than offset by 
increases in other placement costs. 
 
There are various other small over and underspends forecast across the division netting to a 
£266k underspend. These combine with the items described above to arrive at the total divisional 
forecast overspend of £1.772m. 
 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
 
DSG funded services are forecast to overspend by £10.359m, an increase of £367k over last month. 
The DSG had a cumulative overspend of £2.909m at the end of 2018/19. The overspend in the 
current financial year will be adding to this balance, currently estimated at £13.268m. In light of this 
and the wider impact on the MTFS over the next four years, there will be a separate report on the 
DSG to Cabinet in January 2020. 
 
The main reason for the variance relates to a £6.639m overspend on Independent Day School 
provision. This is a £117k increase from September 2019. The reason for the increase is the 
increase in placements from 257 in September to 261 in October. Based on past years’ experience, 
we would expect this number to increase further towards the end of the year. We are seeking to 
increase the number of local maintained special school places in the borough, in order to reduce 
these costs, but it will take time to bring these additional places on stream. At present the annual 

Page 33



 
 

 

increase in the number of EHCPs significantly exceeds the number of additional special school 
places we are able to create in the borough. Based on the number of new EHCPs still being awarded 
following assessment, we would expect this cost to still increase towards year-end and the 
£13.268m cumulative deficit to increase further.  
 
Other overspends include £772k on EHCP allocations to Merton primary and secondary schools, 
£1.791m on EHCP allocations to out of borough maintained primary, secondary and special schools, 
and £1.236m on one-to-one support, OT/SLT and other therapies as well as alternative education. 
 
The table below shows the increase in number of EHCPs over the past 4 years since the entitlement 
changed following the implementation of the Children and Families Act. At the end of October 2019 
there were 1,957 EHCPs, a 14% increase year to date. 
 

 
 

There are various other smaller over and underspends forecast across the DSG netting to a £79k 
underspend which, combined with the items above, equates to the net overspend of £10.359m. This 
will be added to Merton’s negative reserve and conversations continue with government over the 
funding of this. 
 
We continue to keep abreast of proposed changes to the National Funding Formula, especially in 
relation to risks associated with services currently funded by de-delegated elements of the DSG. 
We are also working with other authorities on the deficit DSG issue and await the response to the 
national consultation relating to the treatment of DSG deficits. 
 
The Early Years block of the DSG is normally adjusted in the July following the end of the financial 
year as it is based on January census information. We are therefore not in a position to estimate 
this adjustment until year-end. For 2018/19 this additional grant was £338k. 
 
Merton was required to return to the DfE a Deficit Recovery Plan for the DSG, which is a 5-year 
plan, taking us up to 2023/24. A full update will be included in a separate report on the DSG which 
is planned for Cabinet in January 2020. 
 
Although the pressures on the high needs block are clear from the budget monitoring figures 
highlighted above and continue into 2019/20 and beyond, some schools are also having trouble in 
setting balanced budgets with the funding provided to them through the funding formula. The 
Finance Service monitors this closely, and before any deficit budget is agreed, work is undertaken 
with the school to ensure they are maximising every opportunity to reduce costs and spend wisely. 
The number of schools setting deficit budgets has reduced from 14 in 2018/19 to 13 in 2019/20. 
There are various reasons for schools requiring to set deficit budgets including unfunded non-
teacher pay increases, increased costs relating to children that require additional support but do not 

No % No % No % No %
Early Years (inc. Private & Voluntary Settings) 0 0% 1 0% 7 0% 7 0%
Mainstream Schools (inc. Academies) 422 39% 461 37% 526 35% 584 34%
Additional Resourced Provision 110 10% 111 9% 116 8% 125 7%
State Funded Special Schools 358 33% 388 31% 416 27% 440 26%
Independent Schools 132 12% 153 12% 176 12% 228 13%
Post 16 College and traineeships 25 2% 93 7% 183 12% 212 12%
Post 16 Specialist 10 1% 25 2% 44 3% 37 2%
Alternative Education 15 1% 10 1% 22 1% 28 2%
No placement (including NEET) 3 0% 0 0% 28 2% 51 3%
Total 1075 100% 1242 100% 1518 100% 1712 100%
Change over previous year 16% 22% 13%

Jan 2016 Total 
Statements and 

EHCPs
Type of Provision

Jan 2017 Total 
Statements and 

EHCPs

Jan 2018 Total 
Statements and 

EHCPs

Jan 2019 Total 
Statements and 

EHCPs

Page 34



 
 

 

meet statutory thresholds for additional funding, reduction in pupil numbers and reduced levels of 
reserves that schools would previously have used to balance their budgets. Total school balances, 
including capital balances, did however increase last year. 
 
Merton has been working in conjunction with Association of Directors for Children's Services 
(ADCS), Society for London Treasurers (SLT), London Councils and the Children’s Commissioner 
to lobby Central Government for additional funding. All commissioned analysis shows that the 
funding shortfall is a national issue that requires additional grant funding. 
 
Management action 
Staffing report 
We continue to reduce the use of agency by imposing a three month recruitment drag, where 
appropriate, for non-social work posts. We continue to prioritise meeting our statutory duties when 
determining whether recruitment drag may be applied to any vacant post. Children’s Social Care 
and Youth Inclusion are currently reviewing the distribution of social work staffing to ensure 
workloads in the MASH and First Response Service are at a level that supports recruitment and 
retention of permanent staff. 
 
Placements 
We continue to use the Panel processes to ensure that spending on IFAs instead of in-house 
placements can be justified, as well as continuing our scrutiny on residential children’s home 
placements. 
 
Our ART Fostering Recruitment and Assessment team is continuing to recruit new foster carers 
who will offer locally based placements with a campaign targeted at attracting foster carers for 
teenagers and UASC young people. We have recruited 5 new foster carers this year so far and 
are taking 3 families to the November panel. However, the target for this financial year is to recruit 
20 new foster carers and we are therefore behind target. 
 
Our aim is to slow down the increase in more expensive agency foster placements. In addition, we 
are implementing actions to retain our experienced existing foster carers such as increasing the 
support offer to them through the trauma based training and support to enable them to take and 
retain children with more challenging behaviours in placement and implementing the Mockingbird 
Model. We are also targeting our recruitment to increase our number of in-house mother and child 
foster placements. 
 
Our ART Placement service is working with providers to establish more local provision and offer 
better value placements to the Council. We continue to convene the Semi-Independent 
Accommodation (SIA) Panel which will record costs incurred. We are working to identify our 
Housing Benefit payments and what we should be getting and what are the actuals received. This 
work is continuing with the aim to further reduce under-achievement of housing benefits during this 
year. 
 
We have contracted with a provider to block purchase five independent units for care leavers aged 
18+ to act as a step down into permanent independent living. Building on these cost reductions, we 
expect to be able to procure further placements of this type in 2019/20 and 2020/21. 
 
We have updated our Staying Put policy for young people aged 18+ to enable them to remain with 
their foster carers in line with statutory requirements and as recommended by Ofsted in our 
inspection. However, the increased use of Staying-Put for young people aged 18+ impacts on 
available placements for younger teenagers, therefore highlighting again the need for targeted 
recruitment for foster carers for teenager and UASC young people. We continue to focus our 
foster carer recruitment on carers for teenagers to mitigate these potential additional costs. 

Page 35



 
 

 

 
Our average placements costs against each budget code are reported each month. Due to the low 
numbers in UASC independent agency (non-grant) placements and secure accommodation units, 
small changes in numbers result in big variations in the average weekly unit costs as detailed in 
the following table. 

 
 
Children with additional needs 
We are working with colleagues in CCGs through the tripartite process in order to secure 
appropriate health contribution to funding for children with complex needs, particularly through 
continuing healthcare (CHC) funding. This is an area we need to improve with closer working with 
the CCG a focus going forward. This will mainly affect the CWD budget as many of the children 
discussed will be placed at home with shared packages of care. Details of any arrangements 
made will be recorded and reflected in budget returns. 
 
We have tried to reduce costs associated with SEND transport through a number of strategies but 
this is a continuing challenge with the increasing numbers of children eligible for this service. 
Strategies introduced include: the introduction of a dynamic taxi purchasing system; the re-
provisioning of taxi routes to ensure best value for money; the introduction of bus pick up points 
where appropriate; promotion of independent travel training and personal travel assistance budgets 
where this is option is cheaper. 
 
We have a multi-agency SEND panel providing strategic oversight of the statutory assessment 
process to ensure that at both a request for assessment stage and the agreement of a final EHCP, 
criteria and thresholds are met and the best use of resources is agreed. 
 
To limit the increased costs, to the DSG High Needs block, of the increased number of children with 
EHCPs we have expanded existing specialist provision and have approved a contract to expand 
Cricket Green special school. We have increased Additionally Resourced Provision (ARP) in Merton 
mainstream schools and have further plans for new ARP provision and expansion of existing bases. 
Additional local provision should also assist with minimising increases to transport costs. 
 
We are also part of a South West London consortium, which uses a dynamic purchasing system for 
the commissioning of specialist independent places, this enables LAs together to challenge any 
increases in cost and ensure best value for money in the costs of these placements, although there 
is evidence that other LAs are not making best use of this and it is likely to be decommissioned. 
 
 
New burdens 
 
There are a number of duties placed on the Local Authority that have not been fully funded or not 
funded at all through additional burdens funding from Central Government. Excluding the cost of 
these duties would leave a net departmental overspend of £698k, however that figure masks 

Weekly cost 2019-20

May June July Aug Sep Oct

Movement 
from last 

month Oct
Description £ £ £ £ £ £ £ No
ART Independent Agency Fostering 879 854 889 896 922 910 -11 42
ART In-house Fostering 438 443 430 432 441 420 -21 70
UASC Independent Agency (Grant) 822 822 821 864 819 818 -1 10
UASC In house Fostering (Grant) 410 388 452 451 450 482 31 23
UASC Independent Agency (Non-Grant) 802 802 802 802 661 599 -62 2
UASC In house Fostering (Non-Grant) 409 417 405 393 402 420 17 10
ART Residential Placements 3,919 3,887 3,886 3,916 3,925 3,870 -56 15
ART Secure Accommodation 1,323 1,890 1,890 2,457 1,984 1,804 -181 0
ART Mother & Baby Unit 4,204 4,204 3,401 3,306 3,306 3,405 99 0
Supported Housing & Lodgings (Art 16+ Accommodation) 611 619 627 619 683 687 4 61
Supported Housing & Lodgings - UASC (Grant) 788 736 687 687 771 708 -63 2
Supported Housing & Lodgings - UASC (Non Grant) 451 410 400 428 432 436 4 22

Page 36



 
 

 

substantial one off windfalls and non-recurrent and recurrent management action. The table below 
highlights the continued estimated overspends relating to these unfunded duties: 
 

Description 
Budget 

£000 

Oct  
overspend 

forecast 
£000 

Sep  
overspend 

forecast 
£000 

2018/19 
over  
£000 

Supported lodgings/housing- care leavers 1,819 92 92 52 
Supported lodgings/housing- UASC 570 105 505 774 
UASC 705 476 771 211 
No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) 21 141 141 301 
UASC grant (1,200) (300) (725)  
Total 1,915 514 784 1,338 

The above table summarises the placement cost in relation to additional burdens. On top of these 
costs there will also be staffing costs to supporting these cases. 

Following changes introduced through the Children & Social Work Act, local authorities took on new 
responsibilities in relation to children in care and care leavers. Local authorities are required to offer 
support from a Personal Adviser to all care leavers to age 25. There has been no on-going funding 
for the additional work required.  

Other unfunded burdens include: 
• The increase in the age range of EHCPs, particularly for those young people aged 18-25, 

due to legislation changes, which is causing cost pressures in both the general fund (in 
education psychology and SEN transport) and the DSG (High Needs Block costs relating to 
most EHCP services); 

• New statutory duties in relation to children missing from education have increased the cases 
dealt with by the Education Welfare Service by 79% (from 290 in the 6 months from 
September to March 2016 to 519 in the same 6 months the following year and the level of 
referrals has remained at this level). 

• SEND tribunals will cover all elements of children care packages, not just education. 
• New requirement of social work visits to children in residential schools and other provision. 

Further new burdens are expected for 2019/20 including the DfE requirement for new assessment 
process for all social workers (National Assessment and Accreditation System). 
  

Page 37



 
 

 

Community and Housing 
 
Overview 
 
Community and Housing is currently forecasting an under spend of £22k as at October 2019.  The 
department continues to have under and over spends in a number of its services except in Merton 
Adult Learning which continues to forecast a breakeven position. 
 
Community and Housing Summary Outturn Position 
 
Community and Housing 2019/20 

Current 
Budget 

£000 

2019/20 
Forecast 

Spend 
£’000 

2019/20 
Forecast 
Variance 
(Oct’19) 

£000 

2019/20 
Forecast 
Variance 
(Sept’19) 

£000 

2018/19 
Outturn 
Variance 

£000 

Access and Assessment  45,199 44,732 (467) (907) (258) 
Commissioning    4,438   4,334 (104) (91)  (5) 
Direct Provision    4,706   4,774    68 77   6 

Directorate    1,142   1,454   312 255 90 
Adult Social Care  55,485 55,294 (191) (666) (167) 

Libraries and Heritage  2,186  2,254    68   72   45 
Merton Adult Learning      (8)       (8)      0     0    0 
Housing General Fund  1,905  1,994    89  (16)   (73) 

Other Services Sub-total   4,083  4,240  157  56  (28) 
      

Public Health   (148)   (136)    12   12      0 
Grand Total Controllable 59,420   59,399    (22) (598)  (195) 

 
Adult Social Care 
Access & Assessment - £467k underspend  
 
This service is currently forecasting an underspend of £467k as of October 2019 This  change in 
forecast is mainly due an increase in gross placements, and an increase in forecasted salaries 
especially in the Mental Health Team to cover sickness and to increase the team capacity on a 
temporary basis. 
 
The net underspend is largely due to savings for 2020/21 being achieved in advance, which is 
therefore a one off position and will be netted off once the saving is removed from the budget in 
the new financial year.  It is also important to note that included in Adult Social Care income is 
£300k Independent Living Fund (ILF) grant, which ceases next year. 
 
Winter planning is well underway with health partners. A difficult period is expected given that the 
NHS has experienced significant pressures over the summer. The department is investing the 
Winter Grant in additional capacity for assessments and care, and in the voluntary sector with the 
Winter Warm project.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 
 

 

The table below shows significant movement in budget variances in the Access & 
Assessment division 
 
 
Access & Assessment 
 

Forecast 
Variance 
Oct’19 
£000 

Forecast 
Variance 
Sept’19 

£000 

Outturn 
Variances 
March 19 

£000 
Underspend on Concessionary Fares-(taxi-
cards scheme) 

 
   (91) 

 
   (92) 

 
  (42) 

Equipment     99      70     95 
Other- Incl. Employee Related & Premises     99     (48)  (104) 
Placements & Placements Other       1,776  1,513  1,111 
Income (IBCF & ILF, Client Contribution) (2.350)  (2,350) (1,318) 
Total Controllable    (467)     (907)    (258) 

 
Direct Provision-£68k overspend 
 
This service is currently forecasting an overspend of £68k which is a reduction of a further £9k 
since September 2019. 
 
The service continue to overspend on salaries at Meadowsweet, JMC and the Supported living 
services. 
 
Overspends in direct provision continues to be of concern and is subject to further investigation. 
There are some areas where the budgets are not aligned to real costs and will be addressed in 
setting the 2020/21 budget. There is a misalignment between capacity and usage in day care that 
needs to be addressed as part of the review of the local offer.  However, there are also concerns 
about the sickness levels in some units which are causing additional costs. These are being 
addressed through management action with individuals and through deploying staff across the 
homes to cover shifts. We are trialling the use of day service staff to cover some residential shifts.  
 
C&H-Other Services 
 
Libraries-£68k overspend  
 
The library service is currently forecasting an overspend of £68k which is a reduction of £4k since 
September. Increases in the September budget monitoring report were investigated and forecast 
corrected. 
 
The current overspend and slight reduction since September is due to a combination of items, 
such as an increase in building related expenditure, reduction in salary forecasts and increase in 
expected income from lettings 
 
Merton Adult Learning continues to forecast a breakeven position.   
 
Housing - £89k overspend  
 
The Housing service is currently forecasting an overspend of £89k as at October 2019 which is an 
increase £105k since September 2019.  This is due a reduction in the forecasted income from 
housing benefit, client contributions in temporary accommodation and other an increase in 
forecasted salary in the Housing Environmental Team. The service will investigate the fluctuations 
in clients contribiution levels to acertain the reasons for the monthly variations.  
 

Page 39



 
 

 

The housing enforcement budget reflects the increased capacity within the team to allow the 
service to work with private Landlords and their agents to improve housing conditions in the 
borough and to take a robust approach to housing enforcement.  This has proved to be 
successful and in recent months we have seen three prosecutions against Landlords who have 
flouted the Law.  This enforcement approach is a central plank to the work of the team and 
contributes to improving housing conditions in the borough. 
 
The temporary accommodation budget continues to fluctuate to reflect numbers of households 
being admitted into temporary accommodation, numbers of households leaving temporary 
accommodation and the income received from households living in temporary accommodation via 
Housing Benefit. 
 
Housing benefit Income and subsidy costs are affected by the fluctuation in the number of 
households accessing the service in accordance with the provisions of the Housing Act. 
 
Since the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA), the service is required by 
statute to deliver homelessness prevention activities (now referred to as ‘Prevention & Relief 
Duties’).  Accordingly, the prevention of homelessness remains a central plank to the work of the 
team and contributes to the wider council prevention agenda, which is seeking to ensure that 
households are able to continue to occupy their homes and avoid the trauma that a homelessness 
episode brings. It is also the case that the service is required to deliver outcomes to the rough 
sleeper population in line with MHCLG and the GLA requirements.  
 
The service, in partnership with ST Mungo’s, and grant funding from the MHCLG, has successfully 
opened a rough sleeper’s hub, located in the Mitcham area.  The hub provides 18 bed spaces for 
those most entrenched rough sleepers.  As part of services these individuals will have their 
housing and support needs assessed and appropriate pathways drawn up so as to minimise the 
risk of their returning to rough sleeping. 
 
The hub is one of a number of initiatives that are being developed following successful 
applications to MHCLG for grant funding.  These include:- 
 
 
Rough Sleeping Initiative, Rapid Rehousing Pathway, Controlling Migration Fund, And 
Outreach Rapid Response Team. These projects are all in progress and will contribute to 
the reduction of vulnerable rough sleepers sleeping 
 
 Prevention Activities undertaken as part of the New Burdens for Housing 
 
Activities undertaken to prevent homelessness:- 

• Rent rescue 
• Rent Deposits 
• Landlord liaison and negotiation with excluder 
• Referrals to landlords, hostels and supported housing providers 
• Legal advice on security of tenure, i.e. non-compliant s21 Housing Act 1988 notices 
• Advice on prevention from eviction and landlord harassment 
• Advice on income maximisation and welfare benefits 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 
 

 

The table below shows the number of homelessness prevented to October 2019. 
 

Period Homelessness Prevention Targets 2019-20 

Full Year Target 450 
Target YTD                                          263 
Achieved-Apr’19   57 
Achieved-May’19   86 
Achieved-June’19 118 
Achieved-July’19 152 
Achieved-Aug’19 193 
Achieved-Sept’19 233 
Achieved-Oct’19 273 

 
The service has exceeded its target to date and it is expected to over achieve its annual 
prevention target. 
 
 
 
Analysis of Housing and Temporary Accommodation Expenditure 
 
The table below shows the analysis of housing expenditure to October 2019. 
 
 Housing 
 

Budget 
2019/20  

 
£000 

Forecast 
(Oct’19) 

 
£’000 

Forecast 
Variances 
(Oct’19) 

£’000 

Forecast 
Variances 
(Sept’19) 

£000 

Outturn 
Variances 
(March’19) 

£000 
Temporary Accommodation-
Expenditure 2,368  

2,961 
 

    593 593 562 

Temporary Accommodation-
Client Contribution 

 
  (140) 

 
  (448) 

 
    (308) 

  
(362) 

 
(518) 

Temporary Accommodation-
Housing Benefit Income (2,005)  

(2,449) 
 

     (444) (503) (26) 

Temporary Accommodation-
Subsidy Shortfall  322  

1,042 
 

     720         766 455 

Temporary Accommodation- 
Grant     0 

 
 (450) 

  
    (450) 

 
       (450) (531) 

Subtotal Temporary 
Accommodation 

  
  544 

 
  656 

  
     112 

 
45 

   
(58) 

 
Housing Other Budgets- 
Over/(under)spend 

 
 

1,361 

 
 

1,338 

 
 

      (23) 

 
 

   (61) 

 
 

(15) 
Total Controllable  1,905 1,994       89    (16) (73) 

 
 
Temporary Accommodation (TA) movement to October 2019 
  

 

The data below shows the total number of households (i.e. families and single occupants) 
in temporary accommodation as at October 2019.    
 

Page 41



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Public Health - £12k overspend (No Change) 
 
During October this service adjusted its forecast to reflect pension adjustments, increase in the 
Health & Wellbeing Project cost and a decrease in legal costs but has maintained a forecasted 
overspend of £12k. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Temporary 
Accommodation 

Numbers 
IN 

Numbers 
OUT 

Total for 
the Month 

 
2018/19 

Mar’17 - - 186  
Mar’18 16 16 165 
Mar’19        15        11        174 

     
     April’19 15 11 178 170 
     May’19 15 16 177 175 
    June’19 11 18 170 172 
    July’19 16 20 166 175 
    Aug’19 16 14 168 176 
    Sept’19 14 13 169 174 
    Oct’19 17 12 174 168 

Page 42



 
 

 

Corporate Items 
The details comparing actual expenditure up to 31 October 2019 against budget are contained in 
Appendix 2. Based on expenditure and income as at 31 October 2019 there is an underspend of 
£1.300m forecast on corporate items as summarised in the following table:- 
 

Corporate Items 
Current 
Budget 
2019/20  

Full Year 
Forecast 

(Oct.) 

Forecast 
Variance 
at year 

end 
(Oct.)  

Forecast 
Variance 
at year 

end 
(Sep.) 

Outturn 
Variance 
2018/19 

  £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 
Impact of Capital on revenue budget 10,481 10,332 (149) (149) 403 
Investment Income (664) (1,143) (479) (479) (364) 
Pension Fund 3,279 3,179 (100) (100) (254) 
Pay and Price Inflation 200 200 0 0 (1,122) 
Contingencies and provisions 3,560 3,232 (327) (327) (3,366) 
Income Items (1,503) (1,749) (245) (245) (956) 
Appropriations/Transfers (2,704) (2,704) 0 0 (6) 
Central Items 2,168 1,017 (1,151) (1,152) (6,068) 
Levies 949 949 0 0 0 
Depreciation and Impairment (22,903) (22,903) 0 0 4 
TOTAL CORPORATE PROVISIONS (9,305) (10,605) (1,300) (1,300) (5,661) 

 
Although there is no change to the forecast variance of £1.300m at year end, the figures in the 
table above have been adjusted to reflect the transfer of the following amounts, where budgets are 
planned to be available, to the Spending Review Reserve  
 
 £000 
Excess Inflation provision 250 
Contingency 500 
Apprenticeship Levy 200 
Revenuisation and miscellaneous 300 
Total 1,250 

 
 
The addition of these amounts will increase the balance on the Spending Review Reserve to 
£5.745m. 
 
4 Capital Programme 2019-23 
 
4.1 The Table below shows the movement in the 2019/23 corporate capital programme since the 

last meeting of Cabinet: 
 

Depts 
Current 
Budget 
19/20 

Variance 
Revised 
Budget 
19/20 

Current 
Budget 
20/21 

Variance 
Revised 
Budget 
20/21 

Revised 
Budget 
21/22 

Variance 
Revised 
Budget 
21/22 

Revised 
Budget 
22/23 

Variance 
Revised 
Budget 
22/23 

CS 9,669 (250) 9,419 26,328 250 26,578 4,245   4,245 16,075   16,075 

C&H 1,196 (100) 1,096 1,118 847 1,965 913   913 882   882 

CSF 9,204 39 9,243 5,816 (30) 5,786 3,150   3,150 1,900   1,900 

E&R 14,593 (504) 14,089 8,379 0 8,379 7,504   7,504 4,401 500 4,901 

TOTAL 34,662 (816) 33,846 41,641 1,067 42,709 15,812 0 15,812 23,258 500 23,758 

 

Page 43



 
 

 

4.2 The table below summarises the position in respect of the 2018/19 Capital Programme as at 
October 2019. The detail is shown in Appendix 5. 

 

  Actuals 
Budgeted 
Spend to 

Date 

Variance to 
Date 

Final 
Budget 

Final 
Forecast 
2019/20 

Full Year 
Variance 

Corporate Services 1,658,728 2,211,180 (552,452) 9,418,690 9,244,186 (174,504) 
Community and Housing 501,952 428,700 73,252 1,096,240 1,096,240 0 
Children Schools & Families 5,582,849 4,190,203 1,392,647 9,242,400 9,106,765 (135,635) 
Environment and Regeneration 3,242,322 5,490,075 (2,247,753) 14,089,060 14,069,055 (20,005) 
Total 10,985,851 12,320,158 (1,334,306) 33,846,390 33,516,246 (330,144) 

 
a) Corporate Services – All budget managers are projecting a full spend against budget, 

apart from Customer Contact which is currently showing in year slippage of £324k 
slippage. Two budget have been re-profiled from 2019-20 to 2020-21, these are Business 
Systems – Capita Housing £100,000 and Customer Contact £150,000, both changes 
reflect expected spending patterns. 
 

b) Community and Housing – All budget managers are projecting a full year spend. West 
Barnes Library Re-Fit has been re-profiled to 2020-21 (£200k) and £747k has been added 
to Disabled Facilities Grants (£100k in 2019-20 and £647 in 2020-21) funded by grant 
income. 

 
c) Children, Schools and Families – Officers are currently projecting in year slippage of 

£136k (£87k in Primary, £29k Secondary and £19k in SEN). The following amendments 
have been made to the budget this month 

Scheme 2019/20 
Budget  

2020/21 
Budget  

Children, Schools and Families     
Unallocated Primary School Project (157,000)   
West Wimbledon capital maintenance 20,000   
Hatfeild capital maintenance 18,560   
Garfield capital maintenance 34,000   
Abbotsbury capital maintenance 113,000   
Gorringe Park capital maintenance 55,000   
Haslemere capital maintenance (34,000)   
Liberty capital maintenance 15,000   
Lonesome capital maintenance 55,000   
Sherwood capital maintenance (15,000)   
William Morris capital maintenance (83,000)   
Harris Academy Morden (38,560)   
Rutlish capital maintenance 18,570   
Perseid capital maintenance 30,000 (30,000) 
Cricket Green capital maintenance 7,000   
Total 38,570 (30,000) 

* Requires Cabinet approval 
 

d) Environment and Regeneration – Officers are projecting full spend on all budgets apart 
from Alleygating which is showing an underspend of £20k.The following three adjustments 
have been made to the department’s budget this month: 

 
Scheme 2019/20 

Budget  
2022/23 
Budget  

Morden Area Regeneration- Transportation 
Enhancements* (500,000) 500,000  

Highways & Footways - Safer Walking Routes  (2,000)   
Highways & Footways - School part time closure  (2,380)   
Total  (504,380) 500,000 

* Requires Cabinet approval 
 
 

Page 44



 
 

 

4.3 The table below summarises the movement in the Capital Programme for 2019/20 since its 
approval in March 2019 (£000s): 

Depts. 
Original 
Budget 
19/20 

Net 
Slippage  
2018/19 

Adjustments 
New 

External 
Funding 

New 
Internal 
Funding 

Re-
profiling 

Revised 
Budget 
19/20 

Corporate Services 28,857 1,686     60 (21,184) 9,419 
Community & Housing 971 225       (100) 1,096 
Children Schools & 
Families 10,203 566   594 50 (2,170) 9,243 
Environment and 
Regeneration 13,498 404   394 359 (566) 14,089 
Total 53,529 2,881 0 988 469 (24,020) 33,846 

 
 

4.4 The table below compares capital expenditure (£000s) to October 2019 to that in previous 
years’: 

Depts. Spend  To October 
2016 

Spend  
To 

October 
2017 

Spend to 
October 

2018 

Spend to 
October 

2019 

Variance 
2016 to 

2019 

Variance 
2017 to 

2019 

Variance 
2018 to 

2019 

CS 279 1,386 2,991 1,659 1,380 273 (1,333) 
C&H 1,155 392 492 502 (653) 110 10 
CSF 3,144 2,746 3,565 5,583 2,439 2,837 2,018 
E&R 7,201 6,332 6,581 3,242 (3,959) (3,090) (3,339) 
                
Total Capital 11,779 10,856 13,630 10,986 (793) 130 (2,644) 

        
Outturn £000s 30,626 32,230 31,424     
Budget £000s  

  33,846    
Projected Spend October 2019 £000s  33,516    
Percentage Spend to Budget   32.46%    
% Spend to Outturn/Projection 38.46% 33.68% 43.37% 32.78% 

   
Monthly Spend to Achieve Projected Outturn 
£000s     4,506    

 
 

4.5 October is seven months into the financial year and departments have spent just over 34% of 
the budget. Spend to date is lower than two of the three previous financial years shown.  
 

Department 

Spend  To 
September 

2019 
£000s 

Spend  To 
October 

2019 
£000s 

Increase 
£000s 

        
CS 1,131 1,659 528 
C&H 414 502 88 
CSF 4,752 5,583 831 
E&R 2,851 3,242 391 
        
Total Capital 9,148 10,986 1,838 

 
4.6 During October 2019 officers spent £1.838 million, which highlights that it is highly unlikely 

that a projected Authority wide spend of just under £33 million will be achieved, but funding 
has been based on 88.5% being achieved. Time will continue to be spent with budget 
managers to re-profile budgets into subsequent financial years. 

Page 45



 
 

 

 
5. DELIVERY OF SAVINGS FOR 2019/20 

 

Department 
Target 

Savings 
2019/20 

Projected 
Savings  
2019/20 

Period 7 
Forecast 
Shortfall 

Period 
Forecast 
Shortfall 

(P6) 

Period 6 
Forecast 
Shortfall 

2020/21 
ExpectedShortfall 

  £000 £000 £000 % £000 £000 
Corporate Services 1,484 1,401 83 5.6% 83 35 
Children Schools and 
Families 572 572 0 0.0% 0 0 
Community and Housing 1,534 1,413 121 7.9% 121 0 
Environment and 
Regeneration 3,370 2,097 1,273 37.8% 1,273 130 
Total 6,960 5,483 1,477 21.2% 1,477 165 

 
Appendix 6 details the progress on savings for 2019/20 by department. 

 
    
Progress on savings 2018/19 
 

Department 
Target 

Savings 
2018/19 

 2018/19 
Shortfall 

2019/20 
Projected 
shortfall 

2020/21 
Projected 
shortfall 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 
Corporate Services 2,024 505 395 10 
Children Schools and 
Families 489 0 0 0 
Community and Housing 2,198 442 0 0 
Environment and 
Regeneration 926 523 147 47 
Total 5,637 1,470 542 57 

 
 Appendix 7 details the progress on unachieved savings from 2018/19 by department and 

the impact on the current year and next year. 
 
 Progress on savings 2017/18 
 

Department 
Target 

Savings 
2017/18 

 2017/18 
Shortfall 

2018/19  
shortfall 

2019/20  
Projected 
shortfall 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 
Corporate Services 2,316 196 0 0 
Children Schools and 
Families 2,191 7 0 0 
Community and Housing 2,673 0 0 0 
Environment and 
Regeneration 3,134 2,188 694 305 
Total 10,314 2,391 694 305 

  
           Appendix 8 details the progress on unachieved savings from 2017/18 by department and 

the impact on the current year and next year. 
 
 
 

Page 46



 
 

 

6. CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 
 
6.1 All relevant bodies have been consulted. 
 
7. TIMETABLE 
 
7.1 In accordance with current financial reporting timetables. 
 
8. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 All relevant implications have been addressed in the report.  
 
9. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 All relevant implications have been addressed in the report. 
 
10. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Not applicable 
 
11. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Not applicable 
 
12. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 The emphasis placed on the delivery of revenue savings within the financial monitoring report 

will be enhanced during 2016/17; the risk of part non-delivery of savings is already contained 
on the key strategic risk register and will be kept under review. 

 
 
13. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED WITH THIS 

REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT  
 Appendix 1-   Detailed position table 

Appendix 2 –  Detailed Corporate Items table 
Appendix 3 –   Pay and Price Inflation  
Appendix 4 –  Treasury Management: Outlook 

 Appendix 5a - Current Capital Programme 2019/20 
 Appendix 5b - Detail of Virements 
 Appendix 5c - Summary of Capital Programme Funding 
 Appendix 6 –  Progress on savings 2019/20 

Appendix 7 –  Progress on savings 2018/19 
Appendix 8 -            Progress on savings 2017/18 
 

 
14. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
14.1 Budgetary Control files held in the Corporate Services department. 
 
15. REPORT AUTHOR 
− Name: Roger Kershaw 

− Tel: 020 8545 3458 

− Email:   roger.kershaw@merton.gov.uk  

Page 47

mailto:roger.kershaw@merton.gov.uk


 
 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 

Summary Position as at 31st October 2019 

  

Original 
Budget 
2019/20 

Current 
Budget 
2019/20 

Year to 
Date 

Budget 
(Oct) 

Year to 
Date 

Actual 
(Oct) 

Full Year 
Forecast 

(Oct) 

Forecas
t 

Varianc
e at 
year 
end 
(Oct) 

Forecas
t 

Varianc
e at 
year 
end 

(Sept) 

Outturn 
varianc

e 
2018/19 

  £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000 
Department                 
3A.Corporate Services 10,930 11,495 14,608 15,034 11,204 (291) (342) (2,511) 
3B.Children, Schools and Families 60,819 61,361 29,054 21,197 62,573 1,212 1,581 2,271 
3C.Community and Housing                 
      Adult Social Care 58,657 58,650 32,368 35,471 58,459 (191) (667) (169) 
      Libraries & Adult Education 2,878 2,878 1,880 2,397 2,946 68 72 45 
      Housing General Fund 2,219 2,219 778 186 2,308 89 (15) (73) 
3D.Public Health 0 0 (1,671) (2,626) 12 12 12 0 
3E.Environment & Regeneration 15,832 15,968 2,352 (12,640) 15,300 (668) (820) (1,526) 
Overheads 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (33) 

NET SERVICE EXPENDITURE 151,335 152,570 79,367 59,019 152,802 232 -178 (1,996) 
3E.Corporate Items                 
Impact of Capital on revenue budget 10,481 10,481 3,684 3,898 10,332 (149) (149) 403 
Other Central items (19,500) (20,735) (214) 3,691 (21,886) (1,151) (1,151) (6,064) 
Levies 949 949 433 433 949 0 0 0 

TOTAL CORPORATE PROVISIONS (8,070) (9,305) 3,903 8,022 (10,605) (1,300) (1,300) (5,661) 
                  

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 143,264 143,265 83,270 67,041 142,197 (1,068) (1,478) (7,657) 
                  
Funding                 
- Business Rates (44,026) (44,026) 0 0 (44,026) 0 0 0 
- RSG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
- Section 31 Grant  0 0 (2,398) (2,398) 0 0 0 0 
- New Homes Bonus (2,108) (2,108) (1,581) (1,581) (2,108) 0 0 0 
- PFI Grant (4,797) (4,797) (2,398) (2,398) (4,797) 0 0 0 
- Brexit Grant (210) (210) (210) (210) (210) 0 0 0 
- Adult Social Care Grant (1,054) (1,054) (3,582) (3,582) (1,054) 0 0 0 

Grants (52,195) (52,195) 
(10,169

) (10,169) (52,195) 0 0 - 
Collection Fund - Council Tax Surplus(-)/Deficit (1,949) (1,949) 0 0 (1,949) 0 0 0 
Collection Fund - Business Rates Surplus(-
)/Deficit 3,250 3,250 0 0 3,250 0 0 0 
Council Tax                 
- General (92,028) (92,028) 0 0 (92,028) 0 0 0 
- WPCC (343) (343) 0 0 (343) 0 0 0 

Council Tax and Collection Fund (91,070) (91,070) 0 0 (91,070) 0 0 - 
FUNDING (143,265

) 
(143,265

) 
(10,169

) (10,169) 
(143,265

) 0 0 - 
                  
NET (0) 0 73,101 56,872 (1,068) (1,068) (1,478) (7,657) 

 
 

 
  

Page 48



 
 

 

Appendix 2 

3E.Corporate 
Items 

Council 
2019/20 

Original 
Budget 
2019/20 

Current 
Budget 
2019/20  

Year 
to 

Date 
Budget 
(Oct.) 

Year 
to 

Date 
Actual 
(Oct.) 

Full 
Year 

Forecast 
(Oct.) 

Forecast 
Variance 
at year 

end 
(Oct.)  

Forecast 
Variance 
at year 

end 
(Sep.) 

Outturn 
Variance 
2018/19 

  £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 
Cost of Borrowing 10,481 10,481 10,481 3,684 3,898 10,332 (149) (149) 403 
Impact of Capital on 
revenue budget 10,481 10,481 10,481 3,684 3,898 10,332 (149) (149) 403 
                    
Investment Income (664) (664) (664) (387) (525) (1,143) (479) (479) (364) 
                    
Pension Fund 3,429 3,429 3,279 3,552 3,552 3,179 (100) (100) (254) 
Corporate Provision for 
Pay Award 877 877 (0)   0 (0) 0 0 (744) 
Provision for excess 
inflation 

450 450 200   0 200 0 0 (378) 

Pay and Price Inflation 1,327 1,327 200 0 0 200 0 0 (1,122) 
Contingency  1,500 1,500 750   0 750 0 0 (1,398) 
Single Status/Equal Pay 100 100 50   0 50 0 0 (84) 
Bad Debt Provision 500 500 500   0 500 0 0 (33) 
Loss of income arising 
from P3/P4 200 200 100   0 0 (100) (100) (200) 
Loss of HB Admin grant 83 83 34   0 0 (34) (34) (83) 
Apprenticeship Levy 450 450 250 146 234 250 0 0 (217) 
Revenuisation and 
miscellaneous 2,070 2,070 1,875   257 1,682 (193) (193) (1,351) 
Contingencies and 
provisions 4,904 4,904 3,560 146 491 3,232 (327) (327) (3,366) 
Other income 0 0 0 0 (245) (245) (245) (245) (953) 
CHAS IP/Dividend (1,407) (1,407) (1,503) (821) (830) (1,503) 0 0 (3) 
Income items (1,407) (1,407) (1,503) (821) (1,075) (1,749) (245) (245) (956) 
Appropriations: CS 
Reserves (711) (711) (1,077) (1,077) (421) (1,077) 0 0 0 
Appropriations: E&R 
Reserves (146) (146) (347) (347) 0 (347) 0 0 0 
Appropriations: CSF 
Reserves 9 9 (586) (586) (976) (586) 0 0 0 
Appropriations: C&H 
Reserves (104) (104) (104) (104) 0 (104) 0 0 0 
Appropriations:Public 
Health Reserves (1,200) (1,200) (1,200) (1,200) 0 (1,200) 0 0 0 
Appropriations:Corporate 
Reserves (2,034) (2,034) 611 611 2,645 611 0 0 (6) 
Appropriations/Transfers (4,186) (4,186) (2,704) (2,704) 1,248 (2,704) 0 0 (6) 
                    
Depreciation and 
Impairment (22,903) (22,903) (22,903) 0 0 (22,903) 0 0 4 
                    
Central Items (9,019) (9,019) (10,254) 3,470 7,589 (11,554) (1,300) (1,300) (5,661) 
                    
Levies 949 949 949 433 433 949 0 0 0 
                    
TOTAL CORPORATE 
PROVISIONS (8,070) (8,070) (9,305) 3,903 8,022 (10,605) (1,300) (1,300) (5,661) 

 
 
 

Page 49



 
 

 

 
Appendix 3 

 
Pay and Price Inflation as at October 2019 
In 2019/20, the budget includes 2.8% for increases in pay and 1.5% for increases in general 
prices, with an additional amount, currently £0.450m, which is held to assist services that may 
experience price increases greatly in excess of the inflation allowance provided when setting the 
budget. With CPI inflation currently at 1.5% and RPI at 2.1% this budget will only be released 
when it is certain that it will not be required. 
 
Pay: 

The local government pay award for 2019/20 was agreed in April 2018 covering 2018/19 and 
2019/20. For the lowest paid (those on spinal points 6-19) this agreed a pay rise of between 2.9% 
and 9.2%. Those on spinal points 20-52 received 2%. 

Prices:  
The Consumer Prices Index (CPI) 12-month rate was 1.5% in October 2019, down from 1.7% in 
September 2019. The Consumer Prices Index including owner occupiers’ housing costs (CPIH) 
12-month inflation rate was 1.5% in October 2019, down from 1.7% in September 2019. The 
largest downward contributions to change in the inflation rate, between September and October 
2019, came from electricity, gas and other fuels as a result of changes to the energy price cap.  
There were further downward contributions from furniture, household equipment and maintenance; 
and recreation and culture, which were partially offset by upward movements in in clothing and 
footwear prices. The RPI rate for October 2019 was 2.1%, which is down from the figure of 2.4% 
in September 2019.  
 
Outlook for inflation: 
The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) sets monetary policy to meet the 2% 
inflation target and in a way that helps to sustain growth and employment. At its meeting ending on 
6 November 2019, the MPC voted by a majority of 7-2 to maintain Bank Rate at 0.75%.  The 
Committee voted unanimously to maintain the stock of sterling non-financial investment-grade 
corporate bond purchases, financed by the issuance of central bank reserves, at £10 billion.  The 
Committee also voted unanimously to maintain the stock of UK government bond purchases, 
financed by the issuance of central bank reserves, at £435 billion.  
In the minutes to its November meeting, the MPC note that “looking through Brexit-related 
volatility, underlying UK GDP growth has slowed materially this year and a small margin of excess 
supply has opened up. That slowdown reflects weaker global growth, driven by trade 
protectionism, and the domestic impact of Brexit-related uncertainties. In October, the UK and EU 
agreed a Withdrawal Agreement and Political Declaration as well as a flexible extension of Article 
50. As a consequence, the perceived likelihood of a no-deal Brexit has fallen markedly and the 
sterling exchange rate has appreciated. These agreements are expected to remove some of the 
uncertainty facing businesses and households, and the MPC projects that UK GDP growth will 
pick up during 2020. This will be further supported by easier UK fiscal policy and a modest 
recovery in global growth.” 
The MPC state that “inflationary pressures are projected to lessen in the near term. CPI inflation is 
expected to decline to around 1¼% by the spring, owing to the temporary effect of falls in 
regulated energy and water prices. While unit labour costs have been growing at rates above 
those consistent with meeting the inflation target and core services CPI inflation has begun to 
increase somewhat, employment growth has slowed and pay growth is likely to fall back in the 
near term. In the second half of the MPC’s forecast period, however, as a significant margin of 
excess demand emerges, domestic inflationary pressures are expected to build. Conditioned on 
current market yields, CPI inflation is projected to rise to slightly above 2% towards the end of the 
forecast period.“ 

Page 50



 
 

 

 
The next Bank Rate minutes will be published on 19 December 2019. 
 
The Quarterly “Inflation Report now “The Monetary Policy Report” 
Starting on 7 November, the Bank of England Inflation Report is to become the Monetary Policy 
Report. The Report is also to undergo some changes to its structure  
These changes are part of the Bank’s ongoing efforts to improve its communications and ensure 
that those outside the institution have the information they need in order to understand our policy 
decisions and to hold the Bank to account. 
 
Economic projections in the Monetary Policy Report for November 2019 are caveated by 
assumptions related to the eventual outcome of Brexit. The MPC say that “ Inflation has been 
close to 2% in recent months, averaging 1.8% during 2019 Q3. Over the past year or so, inflation 
has fallen, accounted for by weaker goods price inflation, which in turn has been driven partly by 
the fading impact from sterling’s past depreciation. In contrast, core services price inflation has 
increased. That is consistent with a rise in domestic price pressures, and is likely to reflect the 
gradual pass-through of the strong pickup in pay growth over the past few years. 
 
CPI inflation CPI inflation is projected to decline notably in the near term reflecting the impact of 
lower regulated energy and utilities prices… Over the coming quarters, inflation will be affected by 
developments in a number of regulated prices. The price cap affecting household gas and 
electricity bills has fallen, which will reduce the contribution of energy prices to inflation, as will the 
fall in sterling oil prices over the past year. In addition, water bills are projected to fall in April 2020 
in line with the draft determination of the regulator, Ofwat. CPI inflation is expected to fall to an 
average of 1.2% in 2020 Q2 as a result. …but further out inflation rises, supported by building 
excess demand. Inflation picks up as those temporary effects begin to fade towards the end of 
2020. It is supported by rising excess demand, which leads to stronger domestic inflationary 
pressures. Wage growth is projected to be around 3¾% over the second half of the forecast 
period, supported by low unemployment. Taken together with weak productivity growth, that 
means unit labour cost growth is robust. CPI inflation is projected to rise to 2.0% in the second 
year of the MPC’s forecast, and 2.2% in the third year.” 
 
The latest inflation and unemployment forecasts for the UK economy, based on a summary of 
independent forecasts are set out in the following table:- 

 
Source: HM Treasury - Forecasts for the UK Economy (October 2019) 
    
 2019 (Quarter 4) Lowest %  Highest %  Average %  
CPI 1.5 2.3 1.9 
RPI 2.2 3.2 2.6 
LFS Unemployment Rate 3.8 4.3 4.0 
    
 2020 (Quarter 4) Lowest %  Highest %  Average %  
CPI 1.7 3.3 2.1 
RPI 2.0 4.2 2.9 
LFS Unemployment Rate 3.8 5.7 4.2 
    

 
 
Clearly where the level of inflation during the year exceeds the amount provided for in the budget, 
this will put pressure on services to stay within budget and will require effective monitoring and 
control. 

Page 51



 
 

 

 
 
Independent medium-term projections for the calendar years 2019 to 2023 are summarised in the 
following table:- 
 

Source: HM Treasury - Forecasts for the UK Economy (August 2019) 
  2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 
 % % % % % 
CPI 1.9 2.0 2.0 2.1 2.1 
RPI 2.7 2.8 3.0 3.2 3.2 
LFS Unemployment Rate 3.9 4.1 4.3 4.3 4.3 

 
Due to the general election on 12 December there will be no publication of Forecasts for the UK 
Economy in November. The next publication will be on the 18th December covering both short and 
medium term forecasts. 
 
  

Page 52



 
 

 

Appendix 4 
Treasury Management: Outlook 

At its meeting ending on 6 November 2019, the MPC voted by a majority of 7-2 to maintain Bank 
Rate at 0.75%.  The Committee voted unanimously to maintain the stock of sterling non-financial 
investment-grade corporate bond purchases, financed by the issuance of central bank reserves, at 
£10 billion.  The Committee also voted unanimously to maintain the stock of UK government bond 
purchases, financed by the issuance of central bank reserves, at £435 billion.  
 
In the minutes to the November 2019 meeting the MPC state that “for the majority of members of 
the Committee, the existing stance of monetary policy was appropriate at this meeting. Although 
the global outlook had deteriorated further, recent UK economic data had not, on the whole, 
surprised to the downside. The MPC’s central projection assumed that UK GDP growth recovered 
during 2020, as uncertainties facing businesses and households reduced in response to recent 
Brexit developments. There were, so far, few data points available that allowed the economic 
impact of these developments to be assessed. There were some signs that the labour market was 
starting to loosen, but it remained tight and standard measures of domestically generated 
inflationary pressures had tended to firm. Unit labour costs had been growing at rates above those 
consistent with meeting the inflation target in the medium term, and core services CPI inflation, 
excluding rents, had risen to rates consistent with meeting the target. Although the global 
equilibrium interest rate might have fallen somewhat, the recent reduction in domestic Brexit 
uncertainties and the easier stance of fiscal policy could push up on UK equilibrium interest rates. 
Two members preferred a 25 basis point cut in Bank Rate at this meeting. The UK economy 
already had a modest but rising amount of spare capacity, and core inflation was subdued. The 
headline unemployment rate was likely to be a lagging indicator of labour market tightness; other 
indicators, including vacancies and short-term unemployment, suggested that the labour market 
was turning. There were downside risks to the MPC’s projections from a weaker world outlook and 
from more persistent Brexit uncertainties affecting corporate and household spending. As a result, 
these members judged that some extra stimulus was needed now to ensure a sustained return of 
inflation to the target. 
 
The next Bank Rate minutes will be published on 19 December 2019. 
 
The Quarterly “Inflation Report now “The Monetary Policy Report” 
Starting on 7 November, the Bank of England Inflation Report is to become the Monetary Policy 
Report. The Report is also to undergo some changes to its structure  
These changes are part of the Bank’s ongoing efforts to improve its communications and ensure 
that those outside the institution have the information they need in order to understand our policy 
decisions and to hold the Bank to account. 
 
The outlook for interest rates looking forward will be heavily dependent on the Brexit outcome. The 
MPC say that “reflecting government policy, the MPC’s projections are now conditioned on the 
assumption that the UK moves to a deep free trade agreement with the EU. They are also 
conditioned on the current market path for interest rates, which projects that Bank Rate will be 
below its current level over the forecast period. Under those assumptions, UK demand is projected 
to recover and to grow faster than the subdued pace of supply growth. This recovery reflects the 
assumed reduction in the uncertainty facing businesses and households, more supportive fiscal 
policy and a gradual pickup in global growth. 
 
External forecasters’ central projections for Bank Rate in one and two years’ time were lower, on 
average, than three months ago, while they were broadly similar at the three-year horizon (See 
Chart). The average central projection for Bank Rate remained well above the market-implied path 
upon which the MPC’s November Report forecast assumptions are conditioned. 
 

Page 53



 
 

 

 2019 
Qtr.4 

2020 
Qtr.4 

2021 
Qtr.4 

2022 Qtr.4 

MPC’s Market implied Bank Rate 
(November 2019)  

0.7 0.5 0.5 0.5 

External forecasters projections 
(November 2019) 

 0.8 1.0 1.4 

 
 

 
Source: Monetary Policy Report November 2019 (Bank of England – MPC) 
 
In order to maintain price stability, the Government has set the Bank’s Monetary Policy Committee 
(MPC) a target for the annual inflation rate of the Consumer Prices Index of 2%. Subject to that, 
the MPC is also required to support the Government’s economic policy, including its objectives for 
growth and employment. 
 
The MPC’s projections are underpinned by four key judgements :- 
 
Key Judgement 1: 
Global GDP growth is projected to remain slow in the first part of the forecast period, partly 
reflecting the impact of trade protectionism, before rising gradually towards potential rates. 
 
Key Judgement 2:  
Supply growth is subdued. 
 
Key Judgement 3:  
Uncertainty is reduced by the Withdrawal Agreement — providing some support to UK demand 
growth. 
 
Key Judgement 4:  
CPI inflation declines further below 2% in the near term given lower utilities prices, before rising 
slightly above the target by the end of the forecast owing to building domestic price pressures. 

Page 54



 
 

 

Appendix 5a 
 

Capital Budget Monitoring- October 2019 
       

Narrative Actuals 
Budgeted 
Spend to 

Date 

Variance 
to Date 

Final 
Budget 

Final 
Forecast 
2019/20 

Full 
Year 

Variance 
Capital 10,985,851 12,320,158 (1,334,306) 33,846,390 33,516,246 (330,144) 
Corporate Services 1,658,728 2,211,180 (552,452) 9,418,690 9,244,186 (174,504) 
Customer, Policy and Improvmen 132,139 24,550 107,589 472,660 298,156 (174,504) 
Customer Contact Programme 132,139 24,550 107,589 472,660 298,156 (174,504) 
Customer Contact Programme 2,080   2,080 301,800 128,000 (173,800) 
Customer Contact - Echo Integr 130,059 24,550 105,509 170,860 170,156 (704) 
Facilities Management Total 502,900 695,750 (192,850) 1,480,420 1,480,420 0 
Works to other buildings 217,382 391,920 (174,538) 669,210 669,210 0 
Civic Centre 268,530 198,830 69,700 544,770 544,770 0 
Invest to Save schemes 16,988 105,000 (88,012) 266,440 266,440 0 
Infrastructure & Transactions 1,004,715 1,480,880 (476,165) 3,516,180 3,516,180 0 
Business Systems 63,168 143,800 (80,632) 536,860 536,860 0 
Social Care IT System 96,903 185,000 (88,097) 425,240 425,240 0 
Planned Replacement Programme 844,644 1,152,080 (307,436) 2,554,080 2,554,080 0 
Resources 18,974 10,000 8,974 24,970 24,970 0 
Financial System 18,974 10,000 8,974 24,970 24,970 0 
Corporate Items 0 0 0 3,924,460 3,924,460 0 
Westminster Ccl Coroners Court 0 0 0 460,000 460,000 0 
Housing Company 0 0 0 3,464,460 3,464,460 0 
Community and Housing 501,952 428,700 73,252 1,096,240 1,096,240 0 
Adult Social Care 3,349 0 3,349 43,750 43,750 0 
Telehealth 3,349 0 3,349 43,750 43,750 0 
Housing 458,190 350,000 108,190 927,160 927,160 0 
Disabled Facilities Grant 458,190 350,000 108,190 927,160 927,160 0 
Libraries 40,413 78,700 (38,288) 125,330 125,330 0 
Library Enhancement Works 754 48,700 (47,946) 48,700 48,700 0 
Libraries IT 39,659 30,000 9,659 76,630 76,630 0 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 
 

 

Appendix 5a 
Capital Budget Monitoring- October 2019 

       

Narrative Actuals 
Budgeted 
Spend to 

Date 

Variance 
to Date 

Final 
Budget 

Final 
Forecast 
2019/20 

Full 
Year 

Variance 
Children Schools & Families 5,582,849 4,190,203 1,392,647 9,242,400 9,106,765 (135,635) 
Primary Schools 776,023 1,240,143 (464,120) 1,751,820 1,664,579 (87,241) 
Hollymount 0 12,180 (12,180) 16,240 16,912 672 
West Wimbledon 36,917 52,778 (15,861) 90,370 90,840 470 
Hatfeild 35,884 65,363 (29,478) 105,710 100,170 (5,540) 
Hillcross 141,711 174,555 (32,844) 232,740 227,796 (4,944) 
Joseph Hood 20,000 31,350 (11,350) 41,800 34,122 (7,678) 
Dundonald (3,871) 31,150 (35,021) 31,150 31,150 0 
Garfield 82,546 73,835 8,711 126,780 126,662 (118) 
Merton Abbey 21,479 17,843 3,636 23,790 23,755 (35) 
Pelham 66,075 76,418 (10,343) 85,890 76,894 (8,996) 
Poplar 18,896 20,303 (1,406) 27,070 28,361 1,291 
Wimbledon Chase 54,251 114,835 (60,584) 133,780 136,707 2,927 
Wimbledon Park 0 1,800 (1,800) 1,800 0 (1,800) 
Abbotsbury 32,067 53,655 (21,588) 184,540 184,432 (108) 
Morden (2,219) 3,970 (6,189) 3,970 0 (3,970) 
Bond 52,246 91,450 (39,204) 120,600 121,211 611 
Cranmer 3,680 32,073 (28,393) 56,430 34,142 (22,288) 
Gorringe Park 10,970 7,500 3,470 100,970 90,970 (10,000) 
Liberty 34,003 61,370 (27,367) 92,300 84,680 (7,620) 
Links 64,651 60,110 4,541 74,480 68,986 (5,494) 
Singlegate 0 11,000 (11,000) 11,000 11,000 0 
St Marks 278 0 278 0 0 0 
Lonesome 20,000 16,300 3,700 76,300 72,000 (4,300) 
Sherwood 42,367 40,598 1,769 51,130 50,585 (545) 
Stanford (1,768) 0 (1,768) 0 0 0 
William Morris 15,396 76,200 (60,804) 18,600 17,744 (856) 
Unallocated Primary School Proj 0 68,380 (68,380) 7,540 0 (7,540) 

 
 
 

Please note negative actual spend figures relate to retention and accrued invoices that are still to be paid 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



 
 

 

Appendix 5a 
Capital Budget Monitoring- October 2019 

       

Narrative Actuals 
Budgeted 
Spend to 

Date 

Variance 
to Date 

Final 
Budget 

Final 
Forecast 
2019/20 

Full 
Year 

Variance 
Secondary School 1,484,547 419,918 1,064,629 1,811,190 1,782,636 (28,554) 
Harris Academy Morden 0 38,560 (38,560) 0 0 0 
Harris Academy Merton 1,550 4,570 (3,020) 4,570 4,570 0 
Raynes Park 20,862 51,983 (31,121) 67,680 46,050 (21,630) 
Ricards Lodge 20,648 31,440 (10,792) 36,690 35,306 (1,384) 
Rutlish 182,002 196,165 (14,163) 251,540 246,000 (5,540) 
Harris Academy Wimbledon 1,259,485 97,200 1,162,285 1,450,710 1,450,710 0 
SEN 3,120,669 2,297,703 822,966 5,327,400 5,308,000 (19,400) 
Perseid (32,203) 51,210 (83,413) 83,490 78,040 (5,450) 
Schools Capital maintenance 1,998   1,998 32,280 26,830 (5,450) 
Perseid School Expansion (34,201) 51,210 (85,411) 51,210 51,210 0 
Cricket Green 2,573,768 2,117,743 456,026 4,145,910 4,131,960 (13,950) 
Project General 51,909   51,909     0 
Schools Capital maintenance 10,000 61,313 (51,313) 88,750 74,800 (13,950) 
Cricket Green School Expansion 2,511,859 2,056,430 455,429 4,057,160 4,057,160 0 
Melrose 7,000 5,250 1,750 107,000 107,000 0 
Unallocated SEN 534,620 0 534,620 820,000 820,000 0 
Melbury College - Smart Centre 37,484 123,500 (86,016) 171,000 171,000 0 
CSF Schemes 201,612 232,440 (30,828) 351,990 351,550 (440) 
CSF IT Schemes (1,353) 440 (1,793) 440 0 (440) 
Devolved Formula Capital 202,965 232,000 (29,035) 351,550 351,550 0 

 
 
 
 

Please note negative actual spend figures relate to retention and accrued invoices that are still to be paid 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



 
 

 

Appendix 5a 
Capital Budget Monitoring- October 2019 

       

Narrative Actuals 
Budgeted 
Spend to 

Date 

Variance 
to Date 

Final 
Budget 

Final 
Forecast 
2019/20 

Full 
Year 

Variance 

Environment and Regeneration 3,242,322 5,490,075 (2,247,753) 14,089,060 14,069,055 (20,005) 
Public Protection and Developm 44,214 60,340 (16,126) 66,800 66,800 0 
CCTV Investment 0 10,340 (10,340) 10,340 10,340 0 
Public Protection and Developm 44,214 50,000 (5,786) 56,460 56,460 0 
Street Scene & Waste 45,193 52,660 (7,467) 1,146,340 1,126,340 (20,000) 
Alley Gating Scheme 7,508 15,000 (7,492) 30,000 10,000 (20,000) 
Waste SLWP 0 0 0 778,680 778,680 0 
Sustainable Communities 3,152,915 5,377,075 (2,224,161) 12,875,920 12,875,915 (5) 
Street Trees 0 0 0 60,000 60,000 0 
Raynes Park Area Roads 0 0 0 26,110 26,110 0 
Highways & Footways 1,685,400 2,248,070 (562,670) 4,855,650 4,855,650 0 
Cycle Route Improvements 582,990 747,100 (164,110) 994,600 994,600 0 
Mitcham Transport Improvements 206,013 336,590 (130,577) 986,590 986,590 0 
Mitcham Area Regeneration 14,466 678,770 (664,304) 1,369,290 1,369,290 0 
Wimbledon Area Regeneration 127,698 150,000 (22,302) 417,500 417,500 0 
Borough Regeneration 145,826 0 145,826 593,150 593,145 (5) 
Morden Leisure Centre (46,720) 491,400 (538,120) 596,820 596,820 0 
Sports Facilities 357,642 295,000 62,642 1,888,160 1,888,160 0 
Parks 79,599 430,145 (350,546) 1,088,050 1,088,050 0 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Please note negative actual spend figures relate to retention and accrued invoices that are still to be paid 

 
 
 

Page 58



 
 

 

 

Virement, Re-profiling and New Funding - October 2019         Appendix 5b 

    2019/20 
Budget  Virements Funding 

Adjustments Reprofiling 
Revised 
2019/20 
Budget  

2020/21 
Budget  Movement 

Revised 
2020/21 
Budget  

Narrative 

    £ £   £ £ £   £   

Corporate Service                     
Customer Contact (1) 622,660     (150,000) 0 1,200,000 150,000 1,350,000 Re-profiled in accordance with projected 

spend 
Business Systems- Capita Housing (1) 100,000     (100,000) 0   100,000 100,000 Re-profiled in accordance with projected 

spend 
Community and Housing                     
Library Enhancement Works- West Barnes Library Re-fit (1) 200,000     (200,000) 0 0 200,000 200,000 Re-profiled in accordance with projected 

spend 
Disabled Facilities Grants (1) 827,160   100,000   927,160 280,000 647,100 927,100 Additional budget funded by grant 
Children, Schools and Families           0     0   
Unallocated Primary School Project   164,540 (157,000)     7,540 0 0 0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
West Wimbledon capital maintenance   70,370 20,000     90,370   0 0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Hatfeild capital maintenance   87,150 18,560     105,710   0 0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Garfield capital maintenance   92,780 34,000     126,780     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Abbotsbury capital maintenance   59,540 113,000     172,540     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Gorringe Park capital maintenance   35,000 55,000     90,000     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Haslemere capital maintenance   70,840 (34,000)     36,840     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Liberty capital maintenance   62,300 15,000     77,300     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Lonesome capital maintenance   1,300 55,000     56,300     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Sherwood capital maintenance   66,130 (15,000)     51,130     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
William Morris capital maintenance   86,600 (73,000) (10,000)   3,600     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Harris Academy Morden   38,560 (38,560)     0     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Rutlish capital maintenance   232,970   18,570   251,540     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Perseid capital maintenance   2,280     30,000 32,280 37,720 (30,000) 7,720 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Cricket Green capital maintenance   81,750 7,000     88,750     0 Proposed virement to fund projected costs 
Environment and Regeneration                     

Morden Area Regeneration- Transportation Enhancements (1) 500,000     (500,000) 0 2,000,000   2,000,000 Re-profiled in accordance with projected 
spend 

Highways & Footways - Safer Walking Routes    55,000   (2,000)   53,000     0 Funded by TfL adjustment to funding levels 
Highways & Footways - School part time closure    160,420   (2,380)   158,040     0 Funded by TfL adjustment to funding levels 
Total    3,617,350 0 104,190 (920,000) 2,328,880 3,517,720 1,067,100 4,584,820   
1) Requires Cabinet Approval 2) Requires Council Approval               

Virement, Re-profiling and New Funding -October 2019         Appendix 5b 

    2021/22 
Budget  Reprofiling 

Revised 
2021/22 
Budget  

2022/23 
Budget  Reprofiling 

Revised 
2022/23 
Budget  

Narrative 

    £ £ £ £ £ £   

Environment and Regeneration                 

Morden Area Regeneration- Transportation Enhancements   2,500,000   2,500,000 0 500,000 500,000 Re-profiled in accordance with projected spend 

Total    2,500,000 0 2,500,000 0 500,000 500,000   

 

P
age 59



- 41 -  

Appendix 5c 

Capital Programme Funding Summary 2019/20 
    

  
Funded 

from 
Merton’s 
Resources 

Funded by 
Grant & 
Capital 

Contributions 

Total 

  £000s £000s £000s 
Proposed Capital Programme - Sept Monitoring 24,466 10,197 34,662 
Corporate Services       
Business Systems- Capita Housing (100) 0 (100) 
Customer Contact (150) 0 (150) 
Community and Housing       
Library Enhancement Works- West Barnes Library Re-fit (200) 0 (200) 
Disabled Facilies Grants  0 100 100 
Children, Schools and Families       
William Morris capital maintenance 0 (10) (10) 
Rutlish capital maintenance 0 19 19 
Perseid capital maintenance 30 0 30 
Environment and Regeneration       
Morden Area Regeneration- Transportation Enhancements (500) 0 (500) 
Highways & Footways - Safer Walking Routes  0 (2) (2) 
Highways & Footways - School part time closure  0 (2) (2) 

Proposed Capital Programme - Oct Monitoring 23,546 10,301 33,846 
 
 

Capital Programme Funding Summary 2020/21 

    
    

  

Funded 
from 

Merton’s 
Resources 

Funded by 
Grant & 
Capital 

Contributions 
Total 

  £000s £000s £000s 
Proposed Sept. Monitoring 37,432 4,209 41,641 
Corporate Services       
Business Systems- Capita Housing 100 0 100 
Customer Contact 150 0 150 
Community and Housing       
Library Enhancement Works- West Barnes Library Re-
fit 200 0 200 
Disabled Facilies Grants  0 647 647 
Children, Schools and Families       
Perseid - Capital Maintenance 8 (38) (30) 

Proposed Oct. Monitoring 37,890 4,819 42,708 
 

Page 60



- 42 -  

 
 
 

Capital Programme Funding Summary 2022/23 

 

    
    

  

Funded 
from 

Merton’s 
Resources 

Funded by 
Grant & 
Capital 

Contributions 
Total 

  £000s £000s £000s 
Approve Capital Programme 21,078 2,180 23,258 
Environment and Regeneration       
Morden Area Regeneration- Transportation 
Enhancements 500 0 500 

Proposed Oct Monitoring 21,578 2,180 23,758 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



Department
Target

Savings
2019/20

Projected
Savings
2019/20

Period 7
Forecast
Shortfall

Period
Forecast
Shortfall

(P6)

Period 6
Forecast
Shortfall

2020/21
Expected
Shortfall

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000
Corporate Services 1,484 1,401 83 5.6% 83 35
Children Schools and Families 572 572 0 0.0% 0 0
Community and Housing 1,534 1,413 121 7.9% 121 0
Environment and Regeneration 3,370 2,097 1,273 37.8% 1,273 130
Total 6,960 5,483 1,477 21.2% 1,477 165

APPENDIX 6

P
age 62



APPENDIX 6
DEPARTMENT: CORPORATE SERVICES - PROGRESS ON SAVINGS 19-20

Ref Description of Saving

2019/20
Savings
Required

£000

2019/20
Savings

Expected
£000

Shortfall 19/20 RAG

2020/21
Savings

Expected
£000

2020/21
Expected
Shortfall

£000

20/21 RAG Responsible Officer Comments

R /A Included in
Forecast Over/
underspend?

Y/N

Customers, Policy & Improvement

CS2016 -05 Increase income through translations 15 15 0 G 15 0 G Sean Cunniffe

CS2016 -07 Cash Collection Reduction 30 30 0 G 30 0 G Sean Cunniffe

2018-19 CS09 Reduction/rationalisation in running costs budgets across multiple
budgets 35 35 0 G 35 0 G Sean Cunniffe

CS2016 -06 Merton Link - efficiency savings Sean Cunniffe

Saving has been re-profiled to 20/21 as the efficiencies
expected from the customer contact programme have
not yet been realised. To offset this, a £30k saving on
the Registrars service (2019-20 CS05) planned for
20/21 has been brought forward to 2019/20 (see below).

2019-20 CS05 Registrars Reduction in staff 30 15 15 A 30 0 G Sean Cunniffe

Saving brought forward from 20/21 to 19/20 to offset
CS2016-06 reprofiled from 19/20 to 20/21. Staff
reduction expected mid-year, with the shortfall being
met from elsewhere in the division.

Y

Infrastructure & Technology

CS2016-08 Potential income derived from letting two floors of vacant office
space within the Civic Centre to external/partner organisations. 190 190 0 G 190 0 G Edwin O'Donnell

2018-19 CS01 Revenue saving associated with current MFD contract 150 150 0 G 150 0 G Richard Warren

2018-19 CS02 Reduction in the level of building repairs and maintenance
undertaken on the corporate buildings 100 100 0 G 100 0 G Edwin O'Donnell

2018-19 CS04 Delete or full cost recovery of one post within FM 36 18 18 A 31 5 A Edwin O'Donnell Energy team restructure mid-year is in the process of
being implemented. Only a part-year impact in 19/20. Y

2018-19 CS14 M3 support to Richmond/Wandsworth 20 0 20 R 20 0 A Clive Cooke This is dependent on agreement with RSP, may be at
risk if they don't migrate to M3 system. Y

Corporate Governance

CSREP 2019-20 (1) Increase in income from Legal Services relating to S106, property
and court fees 50 50 0 G 50 0 G Fiona Thomsen

CSREP 2019-20 (6) Legal services - reduce employment and HR support by 50% 30 30 0 G 30 0 G Fiona Thomsen
Resources

CS2016-02 Restructure of HB section to roll out universal credit 66 66 0 G 66 0 G David Keppler

2018-19 CS05 Reduction in permanent staffing 30 0 30 R 0 30 R Roger Kershaw
Saving will require replacement. For 19/20 the saving
will be met by underspends elsewhere within the
division.

Y

2018-19 CS10 Reduction in staffing 60 60 0 G 60 0 G David Keppler

2018-19 CS08 Increase in income from Enforcement Service 100 100 0 G 100 0 G David Keppler

2019-20 CS01 Amend discretionary rate relief policy 75 75 0 G 75 0 G David Keppler

CSREP 2019-20 (2) Reduction in internal insurance fund contribution 250 250 0 G 250 0 G Nemashe Sivayogan

CSREP 2019-20 (3) Increase in income from Enforcement service 50 50 0 G 50 0 G David Keppler

Corporate

2019-20 CS12 Increase in Empty Homes Premium for long term empty properties 97 97 0 G 97 0 G David Keppler

P
age 63



APPENDIX 6
DEPARTMENT: CORPORATE SERVICES - PROGRESS ON SAVINGS 19-20

Ref Description of Saving

2019/20
Savings
Required

£000

2019/20
Savings

Expected
£000

Shortfall 19/20 RAG

2020/21
Savings

Expected
£000

2020/21
Expected
Shortfall

£000

20/21 RAG Responsible Officer Comments

R /A Included in
Forecast Over/
underspend?

Y/N

CSREP 2019-20 (4) Increase in investment income 30 30 0 G 30 0 G Nemashe Sivayogan

CSREP 2019-20 (5) CHAS dividend 40 40 0 G 40 0 G Ian McKinnon

Total Corporate Services Department Savings for 2019/20 1,484 1,401 83 1,449 35

P
age 64



APPENDIX 6
DEPARTMENT: ENVIRONMENT & REGENERATION SAVINGS PROGRESS: 2019-20

Ref Description of Saving

2019/20
Savings
Required

£000

2019/20
Savings

Expected
£000

Shortfall 2019/20
RAG

2020/21
Savings

Expected
£000

2020/21
Expected
Shortfall

£000

2020/21
RAG

Responsible
Officer Comments

R /A Included
in Forecast

Over/Undersp
end?
Y/N

SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES

E4 Income from Merantun Development Limited for services provided to the
company by LBM 100 95 5 A 100 0 G James McGinlay Y

ENV1819-05
Highways advertising income through re-procurement of the advertising
contract for the public highway. New contract due to be in place by last
quarter of 2019/20.

55 28 27 R 55 0 G James McGinlay
New contract expected to commence in the final quarter of
2019/20, so full saving won't be achieved this financial year. Y

PUBLIC PROTECTION
ENR1 Further expansion of the shared service. 100 100 0 A 100 0 A Cathryn James N

E1

Investigate potential commercial opportunities to generate income from
provision of business advice. This follows on from the expansion of the
RSP to include Wandsworth from November 2017, and increased
resilience.

60 0 60 R 60 0 A Cathryn James

This saving is conditional on income being generated from
chargeable business advice/consultancy. A new income
generating Business Development team has been established
as part of the Regulatory Services Partnership restructure,
which will now look to deliver these savings. However, it is
unlikely to be delivered this financial year.

Y

ENR4 Charge local business' for monitoring of their CCTV 100 0 100 R 0 100 R Cathryn James Alternative Saving Required. Y

ENV1819-03

The objective of the proposal is to support the delivery of key strategic
council priorities including public health, air quality and sustainable
transportation, in addition to managing parking, kerbside demand and
congestion. Whilst implementation of the proposals will have the incidental
effect of generating additional revenue, it is difficult to assess the level of
change in customer behaviour and any subsequent financial impact
arising from the changes. This will be monitored after implementation and
any resulting impacts will be considered during the future years' budget
planning cycles. The above will be subject to the outcome of the
consultation process in 2019.

1,900 950 950 R 1900 0 A Cathryn James

The implementation date for the revised charges is still subject
to committee approval. The original savings target was based
on an October go live date. It is felt that a more prudent
approach to the  likely implementation date should be reflected
in the savings targets.

Y

ALT2
Reduction of 2fte from the Parking establishment in
administrative/processing roles as a result of the impending new permit
system

57 57 0 G 57 0 G Cathryn James Y

ALT3 Reduction in the number of pay & display machines required. 14 3 11 R 14 0 G Cathryn James Y

PUBLIC SPACE

ENR9 Increase level of Enforcement activities of internal team ensuring the
operational service is cost neutral 200 200 0 A 200 0 A John Bosley

This saving is currently being mitigated by the additional
revenue delivered by the external enfocement contractor.
(£140k) additional / alternative saving of c£60k needs to
agreed.

Y

E2 Thermal Treatment of wood waste from HRRC 30 0 30 R 0 30 R John Bosley Saving rejected by members due to impact on recycling rate
and reputational damage. Y

EV08
Increased recycling rate by 3% following education and communications
activity funded by WCSS. This will be driven by the incentivisation and
education programmedue to commence in March 2014.

250 250 0 G 250 0 G John Bosley N

ALT4 Environmental Enforcement - Maintain a payment rate of 70% for all FPN
issued. 54 54 0 G 54 0 G John Bosley Y

E5 Letting of remaining vacant facilities in Greenspaces   50 0 50 R 50 0 A John Bosley Y
E6 Increased tenancy income in Greenspaces 40 0 40 R 40 0 R John Bosley Alternative saving required Y

ENR10 Two year extension of the GLL contract 300 300 0 G 300 0 G John Bosley N

ENV1819-01 Five year extension of the GLL contract 60 60 0 G 60 0 G John Bosley N

Total Environment and Regeneration Savings 2018/19 3,370 2,097 1,273 3,240 130

P
age 65



20/11/2019 APPENDIX 6

DEPARTMENT: COMMUNITY & HOUSING SAVINGS PROGRESS 2019/20

Ref Description of Saving
2019/20
Savings
Required

£000

2019/20
Expected
Savings

£000

Shortfall
£000 RAG

2020/21
Savings

Expected
£000

2020/21
Expected

Shortfall  £000
20/21 RAG Responsible Officer Comments

R /A
Included in
Forecast

Over/Unders
pend? Y/N

Adult Social Care
CH35/36/52 Housing Related Support:-The purpose of the project is to review existing service provision linked to original

SP funding, identify gaps and utilise the data to inform a new set of contract specifications to support the re-
procurement of services aligned with the Council’s Community and Housing strategic priorities. The objective
of the project is to deliver successful procurement of contracted services that demonstrate effective outcomes
for service users, effective performance management framework and value for money services.

309 306 3 G 309 0 G Steve Langley Work to manage the budget has
brought delivery close to the
target and work is continuing to
make up the small shortfall in
year

Y

CH39

Extra Care Contracts:-This reduced savings of £57k is targeted on contract efficiencies and non-statutory
support hours; eligible social care needs will not be affected. Providers will seek alternative resources to
provide this support. Service will ensure that new specification requires providers to seek other support for
residents. Impact will be reviewed as part of each service users annual review.

57 57 0 G 57 0 G John Morgan Achieved Y

CH55 Promoting Independence:-The aim of this proposal has been to support people to remain independent and
well. To support them to achieve their desired outcomes by enabling them to remain in their own homes, close
to their friends, families, support networks and local communities.

553 553 0 G 553 0 G John Morgan Achieved Y

CH70 Home Care:-The aim of this proposal is to maximise the benefit of the new home care contract arrangements.
The new arrangements were implemented from February 2018. With a year to get established, it is planned to
start to transfer cases with legacy providers who are not on the new contract as either prime or back-up
providers. Some of these contracts are at higher hourly rates, so the transfer will generate a saving with no
reduction in care.
New care providers will be required to use a care visit monitoring system, which should increase the reliability
of care.

301 301 0 G 301 0 G John Morgan Achieved Y

CH88 Home Care Monitoring System:-The aim of this proposal is to roll out a home care monitoring system for all
home care providers to ensure that we can monitor the delivery of home care visits.

40 40 0 G 40 0 G John Morgan Achieved through Forum.  The
plan is to enrol all major home
providers on to the home
monitoring system and only
seek variations for when there
is a need to utilise specialist
providers as required.

Y

CH89 Older People Day Care Activities:-As less people are choosing to attend these formal day centre we currently
having increasingly vacancies within these provisions which are not been utilised. The proposal seeks to
assess and analyse the demand and supply of activity aimed at supporting older people to access community
activity. This will objectively look at the supply of building based and non-building based activity, its utilisation
and the limitations on providing what people expect and need within the current model. It is envisaged that this
will include a rationalisation and reduction of the current level of building based ‘day centre’ activity. This is
based on current demand statistics and will include consideration of the effect of 2018/19 reductions in
contracted day centre services; which is covered in a separate EIA for that specific proposal.

236 118 118 R 236 0 G Richard Ellis Engagement with the new
owner has established an
agreed timeline that means that
the majority of savings will not
be achieved until the new year.
The work is underway to ensure
that delivery

Y

Subtotal Adult Social Care 1,496 1,375 121 1,496 0
Library & Heritage Service

CH67 Merton Arts Space income 38 38 0 G 38 0 G Anthony Hopkins On track Y

P
age 66



20/11/2019 APPENDIX 6

DEPARTMENT: COMMUNITY & HOUSING SAVINGS PROGRESS 2019/20

Ref Description of Saving
2019/20
Savings
Required

£000

2019/20
Expected
Savings

£000

Shortfall
£000 RAG

2020/21
Savings

Expected
£000

2020/21
Expected

Shortfall  £000
20/21 RAG Responsible Officer Comments

R /A
Included in
Forecast

Over/Unders
pend? Y/N

Total C & H Savings for 2019/20 1,534 1,413 121 1,534 0

P
age 67



APPENDIX 6
DEPARTMENT: CHILDREN, SCHOOLS AND FAMILIES - PROGRESS ON SAVINGS 19-20

Ref Description of Saving

2019/20
Savings
Required

£000

2019/20
Savings

Expected
£000

Shortfall 19/20
RAG

2020/21
Savings

Expected
£000

2020/21
Expected
Shortfall

£000

20/21
RAG

Responsible
Officer

Comments R /A Included
in Forecast

Over/Undersp
end? Y/N

Education
CSF2018-03 Review Early Years : raise income or cease some services in preparation for

2020 where  we’d consider withdrawing from direct provision of a childcare
offer.

49 49 0 G 49 0 G Jane McSherry

CSF2018-04 Review schools trade offer, raise charges or consider ceasing services from
2020.

30 30 0 G 30 0 G Jane McSherry

CSF2018-07 Reorganisation of Admissions, My Futures and School Improvement Teams
and reduction in contribution to the MSCB (Safeguarding Partnership)

100 100 0 G 100 0 G Jane McSherry

CSF2018-11 Reduction of SENDIS early intervention service and reduction in spend
associated with the introduction of the web based EHCP Hub

72 72 0 G 72 0 G Jane McSherry

Children Social Care & Youth Inclusion
CSF2018-01 Reduced costs/offer through the national centralised adoption initiative 30 30 0 G 30 0 G El Mayhew
CSF2018-02 Reorganisation of the Children with Disability (CWD), Fostering and Access

to Resources (ART) teams and a review of the Common and Shared
Assessment (CASA) service.

130 130 0 G 130 0 G El Mayhew

CSF2018-05 Delivery of preventative services through the Social Impact Bond 45 45 0 R 45 0 R El Mayhew We expect to achieve the savings
target as numbers of LAC are stable.
The overall service will still overspen
however because UASC costs have
increased over the past few years
and the growth received was not
sufficient to offset this pressure.
Placements are reviewed on an on-
going basis and detailed analysis to
back up movement caseloads and
placement costs reported to DMT.

Y

CSF2018-06 South London Family Drug and Alcohol Court commissioning 45 45 0 R 45 0 R El Mayhew We expect to achieve the savings
target as numbers of LAC are stable.
The overall service will still overspen
however because UASC costs have
increased over the past few years
and the growth received was not
sufficient to offset this pressure.
Placements are reviewed on an on-
going basis and detailed analysis to
back up movement caseloads and
placement costs reported to DMT.

Y

CSF2018-12 Further reduction in staffing at Bond Road. This will include a FGC post and a
contact worker.

71 71 0 G 71 0 G El Mayhew

Total Children, Schools and Families Department Savings for 2019/20 572 572 0 572 0

P
age 68



Department
Target

Savings
2018/19

 2018/19
Shortfall

2019/20
Projected
shortfall

2020/21
Projected
shortfall

£000 £000 £000 £000
Corporate Services 2,024 505 395 10
Children Schools and Families 489 0 0 0
Community and Housing 2,198 442 0 0
Environment and Regeneration 926 523 147 47
Total 5,637 1,470 542 57

APPENDIX 7

P
age 69



APPENDIX 7

DEPARTMENT: CORPORATE SERVICES - PROGRESS ON SAVINGS 18-19

Ref Description of Saving

2018/19
Savings
Required

£000

2018/19
Shortfall

18/19
RAG

2019/20
Expected
Shortfall

£000

19/20
RAG

2020/21
Expected
Shortfall

£000

20/21
RAG Responsible Officer Comments

Infrastructure & transactions

CS2015-10 FM - Energy invest to save 465 465 R 365 A 0 G Richard Neal

The capital spend to achieve this was slipped
and hence the saving was delayed with £100k
expected in 19/20 and the balance in 20/21. In
19/20 the unachieved saving will be met from
the Corporate Services reserve.

CSREP 2018-
19 (13)

Business Improvement - Business Systems maintenance and support
reduction 10 10 R 10 R 10 R Clive Cooke

Saving to be reviewed during 19/20 to identify if
this can be met or if a replacement saving is
required.

CSREP 2018-
19 (14) M3 support to Richmond/Wandsworth 20 20 R 20 R 0 A Clive Cooke This is dependent on agreement with RSP, may

be at risk if they don't migrate to M3 system.

Corporate Governance

CSD43 Share FOI and information governance policy with another Council 10 10 R Karin Lane
Replacement saving identified. From 19/20 this
saving will be replaced by a reduction to the
Corporate Governance AD's budget

Total Corporate Services Department Savings for 2018/19 505 505 395 10

P
age 70



DEPARTMENT: ENVIRONMENT & REGENERATION SAVINGS PROGRESS: 2018-19 APPENDIX 7

Ref Description of Saving

2018/19
Savings
Required

£000

2018/19
Savings

Expected
£000

Shortfall 18/19
RAG

2019/20
Savings

Expected
£000

2019/20
Expected
Shortfall

£000

19/20
RAG

2020/21
Expected
Shortfall

£000

20/21
RAG

Responsible
Officer Comments

R /A Included in
Forecast

Over/Underspe
nd?
Y/N

SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES
ENV20 D&BC: Increased income from building

control services. 35 0 35 R 35 0 G 0 G James
McGinlay

Based on the P5 forecast, the income targets are now
being achieved. N

PUBLIC PROTECTION
ENV07 Parking: Reduction in supplies &

services/third party payment budgets. 60 13 47 R 13 47 R 47 R Cathryn James Saving has been reviewed and a part-alternative saving is
required. Y

ENV08 Regulatory Services: Funding of EH FTE by
public health subsidy. As agreed between
DPH and Head of PP .

40 0 40 R Cathryn James
Alternative saving has been agreed for 2019/20.

Y

ENV09 Regulatory Services: Investigate potential
commercial opportunities to generate income

50 0 50 R 50 0 A 0 A Cathryn James

This saving is conditional on income being generated
from chargeable business advice/consultancy. A new
income generating Business Development team has been
established as part of the Regulatory Services Partnership
restructure, which will now look to deliver these savings.

Y

ENR2 Parking & CCTV: Pay & Display Bays (On
and off street) 44 0 44 R 44 0 G 0 G Cathryn James Y

ENR3 Parking & CCTV: Increase the cost of existing
Town Centre Season Tickets in Morden,
Mitcham and Wimbledon.

17 0 17 R 17 0 G 0 G Cathryn James
Saving is being delayed as it will now form part of the
wider discussion on parking charges. Y

ALT1 Parking: The further development of the
emissions based charging policy by way of
increased charges applicable to
resident/business permits as a means of
continuing to tackle the significant and
ongoing issue of poor air quality in the
borough.

440 390 50 R 440 0 G 0 G Cathryn James N

PUBLIC SPACE
ENV32 Transport: Review of Business Support

requirements 30 0 30 R John Bosley Alternative saving has been agreed for 2019/20. Y

ENR6 Waste: Wider Department  restructure in
Waste Services 200 0 200 R 100 100 R 0 A John Bosley

This was not delivered in 2018.  Review of the current
wider Public Space structure is being assesed and
business needs along with resource gap being identified.
Scheduled for Q4 201920

Y

ENR7 Transport Services: Shared Fleet services
function with LB Sutton 10 0 10 R John Bosley Alternative saving has been agreed for 2019/20. Y

Total Environment and Regeneration
Savings 2018/19 926 403 523 699 147 47

P
age 71



Updated 20/11/2019 APPENDIX 7

DEPARTMENT: COMMUNITY & HOUSING SAVINGS PROGRESS 2018/19

Ref Description of Saving

2018/19
Savings
Required

£000

Shortfall
£000 RAG

2019/20
Savings

Expected
£000

2019/20
Expected

Shortfall  £000
19/20 RAG 2020/21 Expected

Shortfall £000 19/20 RAG Responsible Officer Comments

Adult Social Care
CH73 A review of management and staffing levels of the AMH

team in line with the reductions carried out in the rest of
ASC.

100 23 R 100 0 G 0 G Richard Ellis Balance deferred to 2019/20

CH36 Single homeless contracts (YMCA, Spear, Grenfell) -
Reduce funding for contracts within the Supporting People
area which support single homeless people -Reduced
support available for single homeless people - both in terms
of the numbers we could support and the range of support
we could provide. In turn this would reduce their housing
options. (CH36)

38 38 R 38 0 G 0 G Steve Langley  £38k deferred to 2019/20

CH71 Transport: moving commissioned taxis to direct payments.
Service users can purchase taxi journeys more cheaply
than the council.

50 50 R 50 0 R 0 G Phil Howell Deferred to 2020/21.

CH72 Reviewing transport arrangements for in-house units, linking
transport more directly to the provision and removing from
the transport pool.

100 100 R 100 0 R 0 G Richard Ellis  £100k deferred to 2020/21. Part of
the Transport review which is about
to commence

CH74 The implementation of the MOSAIC social care system has
identified the scope to improve the identification of service
users who should contribute to the costs of their care and
assess them sooner, thus increasing client income.
Assessed as a 3% improvement less cost of additional
staffing

231 231 R 231 0 G 0 G Richard Ellis Team resources have increased and
this has enabled to team to catch up
on reviews and nil payers, which has
netted more then £200k in additional
income

Total C & H Savings for 2018/19 519 442 519 0 0

P
age 72



APPENDIX 7
DEPARTMENT: CHILDREN, SCHOOLS AND FAMILIES SAVINGS PROGRESS 2018/19

Ref Description of Saving

2018/19
Savings
Required

£000

Shortfall
£000 RAG

2019/20
Savings

Expected  £000

2019/20
Expected

Shortfall  £000
19/20 RAG 2020/21 Expected

Shortfall £000 19/20 RAG Responsible Officer Comments
R /A Included
in Forecast

Over/Underspe
nd? Y/N

489 0 489 0 0

There were no red savings for CSF

Total Children, Schools and Families Department Savings for
2018/19

P
age 73



Department
Target

Savings
2017/18

 2017/18
Shortfall

2018/19
shortfall

2019/20
Projected
shortfall

£000 £000 £000 £000
Corporate Services 2,316 196 0 0
Children Schools and Families 2,191 7 0 0
Community and Housing 2,673 0 0 0
Environment and Regeneration 3,134 2,188 694 305
Total 10,314 2,391 694 305

APPENDIX 8

P
age 74



APPENDIX 8
DEPARTMENT: CHILDREN, SCHOOLS AND FAMILIES - PROGRESS ON SAVINGS 17-18

Ref Description of Saving

2017/18
Savings
Required

£000

2017/18
Expected
Shortfall

£000

17/18 RAG
2018/19
Shortfall

£000

18/19
RAG

2019/20
Expected
Shortfall

£000

19/20
RAG

Responsible
Officer

Comments
R /A Included
in Forecast

Over/Undersp
end? Y/N

Children Social Care

CSF2012-07 Family and Adolescent Services Stream -
Transforming Families (TF), Youth Offending
Team (YOT) and in Education, Training and
Employment (ETE). 2016/17 savings will be
achieved by the closure of Insight and deletion of
YJ management post.

100 7 R 0 G 0 G Paul Angeli The ETE saving was delivered from
July 2017 and the short for the first
quarter covered through reduced
grant-funding for targeted
intervention services.

N

Total Children, Schools and Families
Department Savings for 2017/18 7 0 0

P
age 75



APPENDIX 8
DEPARTMENT: CORPORATE SERVICES - PROGRESS ON SAVINGS 17-18

Ref Description of Saving

2017/18
Savings
Required

£000

2017/18
Shortfall

17/18
RAG

2018/19
Shortfall

£000

18/19
RAG

2019/20
Expected
Shortfall

£000

19/20
RAG Responsible Officer Comments

Business improvement

CSD42
Restructure functions, delete 1 AD and other elements of management

170 70
R

Sophie Ellis
Replacement saving identified and
approved for 18/19 - CSREP 2018-19
(1-16)

CS2015-08Staffing support savings 13 13
R

Sophie Ellis
Replacement saving identified and
approved for 18/19 - CSREP 2018-19
(1-16)

Infrastructure & transactions

CS70 Apply a £3 administration charge to customers requesting a hard copy paper
invoice for services administered by Transactional Services team 35 35

R
Pam Lamb

Replacement saving identified and
approved for 18/19 - CSREP 2018-19
(1-16)

Resources

CSD26
Delete 1 Business Partner

78 78
R

0 G G Caroline Holland Due to delays in projects this saving
was not achieved until 18/19

Total Corporate Services Department Savings for 2017/18 196 0 0

P
age 76



Updated 20/11/19 APPENDIX 8

DEPARTMENT: COMMUNITY & HOUSING SAVINGS PROGRESS 2017/18

Ref Description of Saving
2017/18
Savings
Required

£000

2017/18
Shortfall

£000
17/18 RAG 2018/19

Shortfall  £000
18/19
RAG

2019/20
Expected
Shortfall

£000

19/20
RAG Responsible Officer Comments

R /A Included in
Forecast

Over/Underspend
? Y/N

Adult Social Care
Total C & H Savings for 2017/18 No Reds

P
age 77



APPENDIX 8
DEPARTMENT: ENVIRONMENT & REGENERATION SAVINGS PROGRESS: 2017-18

Ref Description of Saving 2017/18
Savings
Required

£000

2017/18
Savings

Achieved
£000

Shortfall 17/18
RAG

2018/19
Savings

Expected
£000

2018/19
Shortfall

£000

18/19
RAG

2019/20
Savings

Expected
£000

2019/20
Expected
Shortfall

£000

19/20
RAG

Comments R /A Included
in Forecast

Over/Unders
pend?

Y/N

SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES
ER23b Restructure of team to provide more focus on property management and

resilience within the team.
18 0 18 R 0 18 R 18 0 A Business Case for restructure in progress, but

due to the delay it's unlikely to be fully achieved
this financial year. Saving being achieved
through rents (reported through monthly budget
return).

Y

D&BC1 Fast track of householder planning applications 55 0 55 R A replacement saving (ALT1) implemented in
2018/19, was agreed by Cabinet in November
2017.

N

D&BC2 Growth  in PPA and Pre-app income 50 0 50 R A replacement saving (ALT1) implemented in
2018/19, was agreed by Cabinet in November
2017.

N

D&BC3 Commercialisation of building control 50 0 50 R A replacement saving (ALT1) implemented in
2018/19, was agreed by Cabinet in November
2017.

N

D&BC4 Deletion of 1 FTE (manager or deputy) within D&BC 45 0 45 R 45 0 G 45 0 G N
D&BC5 Eliminate the Planning Duty service  (both face to face and dedicated

phone line) within D&BC
35 0 35 R A replacement saving (ALT1) implemented in

2018/19, was agreed by Cabinet in November
2017.

N

D&BC6 Stop sending consultation letters on applications and erect site notices
only

10 0 10 R A replacement saving (ALT1) implemented in
2018/19, was agreed by Cabinet in November
2017.

N

ENV15 Reduction in street lighting energy and maintenance costs. Would require
Capital investment of c£400k, which forms part of the current capital
programme - Investment in LED lights in lamp Colum stock most capable
of delivering savings

148 100 48 R 148 0 G 148 0 G N

ENV20 Increased income from building control services. 35 0 35 R A replacement saving (ALT1) implemented in
2018/19, was agreed by Cabinet in November
2017.

N

PUBLIC PROTECTION
E&R14 Further expansion of the Regulatory shared service. 100 0 100 R 100 0 G 100 0 G Y

ENV02 Review the current CEO structure, shift patterns and hours of operation
with the intention of moving toward a two shift arrangement based on 5
days on/2 days off.

190 0 190 R 0 190 R 0 190 R Alternative saving required Y

ENV03 Reduction number of CEO team leader posts from 4 to 3 45 0 45 R 0 45 R 0 45 R Alternative saving required Y

ENV06 Reduction in transport related budgets 46 0 46 R A replacement saving (ALT1) implemented in
2018/19, was agreed by Cabinet in November
2017.

N

ENV09 Investigate potential commercial opportunities to generate income 50 7 43 R 0 50 R 50 0 A Y

PUBLIC SPACE
E&R16 joint procurement of waste, street cleansing, winter maintenance and fleet

maintenance services (Phase C)
1,500 795 705 R 1,257 243 R 1500 0 A Actual savings delivered are being monitored

closely
N

E&R25 Joint procurement of greenspace services as part  2 of the Phase C
SLWP procurement contract with LB Sutton

160 44 116 R 160 0 G 160 0 G N

ENV12 Loss of head of section/amalgamated with head of Greenspaces 70 0 70 R 0 70 R 0 70 R Saving has been delayed but in the process of
being reviewed but ot expected to be achieved
until 2020/21.

N

ENV13 Staff savings through the reorganisation of the back office through
channel shift from phone and face to face contact.

70 0 70 R 70 0 G 70 0 G N

ENV18 Increased income from events in parks 100 0 100 R A replacement saving (ALT1) implemented in
2018/19, was agreed by Cabinet in November
2017.

N

ENV21 Reduction in the grant to Wandle Valley Parks Trust 6 0 6 R 6 0 G 6 0 G N
ENV23 Further savings from the phase C procurement of Lot 2. 160 0 160 R 82 78 R 160 0 G N
ENV25 Department  restructure of the waste section 191 0 191 R 191 0 G 191 0 G Y

Total Environment and Regeneration Savings 3,134 946 2,188 2,059 694 2,448 305

P
age 78



Committee: Cabinet
Date: 16 December 2019
Wards: ALL

Subject:  
Lead officer: Chris Lee, Director Environment & Regeneration
Lead member: Councillor Tobin Byers, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Health 
and the Environment
Contact officer: John Bosley, Assistant Director of Public Space Contracts & 
Commissioning

Recommendations: 
A. The Cabinet notes the contents of the local improvement plan prepared by Veolia, 

the Council’s street cleansing service provider. 
B. The Cabinet requests the improvement plan, focused on improved street cleansing 

outputs, is supported by the Council’s client monitoring team through enhanced 
Officer monitoring of Veolia’s service deliverables.

C. That Officers work collaboratively with Veolia to identify areas of improved service 
delivery as outlined in the improvement plan in the future initiatives section.

D. That Officers regularly review the progress and delivery of the local improvement 
plan until completion.

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1. To report to Cabinet and make available the local improvement plan 

prepared by the Council’s service provider for street cleansing service, 
Veolia UK Ltd. 

1.2. The plan was prepared as part of an outcome from the Waste and Street 
Cleansing service performance report as reported to the Sustainable 
Communities Scrutiny and Overview Community. 

1.3. Veolia had agreed to prepare a plan to address deficiencies on the service 
provision that had been identified by the Council’s client management team 
and by a subsequent field visit led by Veolia through the borough (East & 
West) with the Cabinet Member, Cllr Byers.

1.4. The local improvement plan has been developed to provide focused 
improvements with prioritisation given to areas where improvements are 
most needed to meet desired standards. It is the intention of the plan to 
support contract-wide improvements through staff training, the review of 
working methods (i.e. hand tools utilised) and localised improvements, such 
as deep cleanses of ‘hot spots’.

1.5. It had been the aim to raise this matter at the 11 November Cabinet meeting, 
but further advice had determined that the contents of the report may have 

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



been contentious due to the General Election that had commenced during 
this period.

2 DETAILS
2.1. The local improvement plan is attached as an appendix to this report and is 

comprised of a detailed report and an action summary plan. 
2.2. The actions agreed as part of this plan have been suggested by Veolia as 

areas of improvement, additions to the service and amendments to current 
operational methods in order to improve the service efficiency and delivery 
of the cleansing service.

2.3. The main elements of the local improvement plan are as follows;
(i) Changes to the supervisory structure
(ii) Training, retraining and measuring staff outputs
(iii) Changes to the schedules of cleansing routes
(iv) Targeted deep cleansing of identified areas
(v) Future improvements: - i.e. development of East borough sub-depot, 
pavement cleansing by mechanical sweeper trial and re-scheduled of Public 
Rights of Ways cleansing.

2.4. The elements outlined within this report should be considered with and will 
complement recent development work being undertaken by the service. 
Areas being reviewed and developed include the recent draft Fly-tipping 
Strategy and supporting action plan, the Neighbourhood Recycling Centre 
consultation, Member engagement meetings, review of waste collection 
arrangements for flats above shops and litter bin review.

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
3.1. None for the purposes of this report.
4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED
4.1. The results of the 2019 Residents Survey have provided detailed insight in 

areas of improvement required by the service. Whilst the holistic service 
change to waste service collections has yielded substantial improvement in 
waste minimisation and improved recycling levels, the local improvement 
plan and focus on the Council’s client management team at this time is on 
improving resident satisfaction ratings for street cleansing services, including 
how we deal with litter and fix fly-tipping reports.

5 TIMETABLE
5.1. The local improvement plan has commenced in September and will be 

delivered over the course of the 2019/20 year. Further amendments or 
changes to the service delivery model will be implemented by Veolia as 
improvements to the service.

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

Page 80



6.1. The additional resources and changes imposed by the local improvement 
plan are delivered by the standards contract payments, with additions or 
enhancements being borne by Veolia.

7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS
7.1. None for the purpose of this report.
8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS
8.1. Further refinements to or improvements of the service have been considered 

and are subject to the original scope of service. No direct changes which 
have the potential to impact human rights, equalities or community cohesion 
have been identified.

9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS
9.1. None for the purposes of this report.
10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
10.1. The direct management of risk and health and safety provision for this 

service area is managed by the Clients contract management team. There 
are no further changes or impacts envisaged due to the contents of this 
report.

11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT
 Veolia’s Local Improvement Plan and supporting action plan summary. 

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS
12.1. Please note and refer to the Sustainable Communities Scrutiny and 

Overview Committee report on Veolia’s waste and street cleansing service 
performance. A link to the report can be found - hyperlink to report here.

Page 81

https://mertonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s29074/SCSOC%20Report%20Veolia%20Performance%20Final%2023%2008%202019.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

LB Merton Street Cleansing  
Local Improvement Plan 

Background: 
 
 

The waste and street cleansing service was scrutinised by the Sustainable Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel on Tuesday, 3 September 2019.  Veolia presented the progress currently made 
across the borough and noted the improvements still required in the street cleansing standards 
being delivered in some areas of the borough of Merton. Particularly, the Wards in the east of the 
borough around Mitcham were initially prioritised. 

 

 
Prior to the meeting, Scott Edgell - General Manager for South London - attended a 
‘street inspection drive around’ with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Health and the 
Environment, the Director of Environment & Regeneration and the Assistant Director of Public 
Space on Friday, August 30th 2019. 

 

 
A localised plan to address improvements was offered during the committee meeting with the 
aim of improving the outcomes as observed during the inspection. Veolia has commenced a 
number of interdependent initiatives that make up the Local Improvement Plan (LIP). Those 
initiatives include; 

 

 
●   Changes to the supervisory structure 
●   Training, retraining and measuring of the on-street staff 
●   Changes to the routes for the on street staff 
●   Deep cleansing area by area 
●   Future initiatives 

○   Mitcham sub-depot 
○   Mechanical pavement sweeper trial 
○   PROWs  

 
 

Changes to the supervisory structure 
 
 

From September 23rd there has been an additional Environmental Manager (EM) assigned to the 
East of the Borough. Their duties are focused on the barrow sweepers, ensuring that they are 
using the correct equipment at all times - litter pickers have been removed from all barrow 
sweepers except those in Town Centres to improve sweeping outputs and emphasis has been 
given to the green-bagged arisings to ensure only in the designated drop off points are used. In 
addition, added focus has been given to tree-base cleansing activities, weeding and detritus 
removal from footways and channels. 

 

 
The additional EM is further supplemented by a Foreperson to ensure that each of the barrow 
sweepers are using the correct equipment, the EM and the Foreperson will drive standards - Page 83



2 

 

 

LB Merton Street Cleansing  
Local Improvement Plan 

measured against the Veolia training manual for street sweeping - and ensure that each of the 
barrow sweepers are adhering to their schedules and/or identify the areas within their schedules 
that require attention (see below). 
 
Training, retraining and measuring the on street staff 

 
 

Following contract improvement discussions in July 2019, each of the barrow sweeping staff 
across the contract have been re-inducted, supported by the SLWP manual. All of the barrow 
sweepers - except those in town centres - had their litter pickers removed and were informed that 
if standards did not improve, they would be subject to a personal Performance Improvement Plan 
(PIP). 

 

 
PIPs measure performance over a 12 week period with appraisals within the timeframe and if staff 
do not raise their output to the expected levels after 12 weeks, duties are amended or ultimately 
the staff may leave the business. 

 

 
Part of a PIP is having measurable outputs for the staff to achieve. It is important to note that 
Veolia have utilised street cleansing manuals for other contracts and have now adopted this 
practice for the SLWP in order to establish improved baseline services. 

 

 
The SLWP manual covers generic practices like booking on shift and PPE standards but also 
covers sweeping task specific items such as; 

 

 
●   The barrow and the use of the tools provided 
●   Areas to be cleaned 
●   The required quality of cleansing 
●   Wheeling and parking the barrow 

 
 

Images from the manual.

Page 84



3 

 

 

LB Merton Street Cleansing  
Local Improvement Plan 

 
 

Images from the manual 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Each of the staff during their re-inductions had the expectations of them reinforced. Each staff 
member will also receive a copy of the SLWP manual and will sign to say they have received them 
and that they understand the requirements of the manual with regards to cleansing practices and 
quality. Ultimately, those staff that repeatedly fail to meet the requirements will be assigned to other 
duties or leave the business. 

 

 
Changes to the routes for the on-street staff 

 
 

The allocation of resources across the Central & East of the borough was reviewed. The Pollards 
Hill Ward was identified as an area of concern. The resources within the Ward were completely 
re-routed as the area was effectively split into two. The maps on the attached appendix illustrate 
how the Ward was allocated before the changes and the new ‘beats’ for the sweepers to cover 
following the review. 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 85



4 

 

 

LB Merton Street Cleansing  
Local Improvement Plan 

 
Deep cleansing area by area 

 
 

We have assisted the barrow sweepers by carrying out ‘deep cleanses’ to bring the footways and 
channels to a point where the barrow sweepers will be in a position to maintain the standards on 
their next visits without assistance. 

 

 
The areas designated for deep cleanses in the first phase are; 

●   The Pollards Hill ward 
●   The Eastfields area within the Figges Marsh Ward and then; 
●   The Graveney Ward 

 
 

Upon the completion of the current deep cleanse programme the resources and requirement will 
be reviewed according to local requirements and identified ‘hot spots’. 

 

 
Below are images following the deep cleansing activities carried out in the Pollards Hill ward. 

Berkshire Way

Page 86



5 

 

 

LB Merton Street Cleansing  
Local Improvement Plan 

 
 

Conway Gardens 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lancaster Avenue

Page 87



6 

 

 

LB Merton Street Cleansing  
Local Improvement Plan 

 
 

Middlesex Road 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Northumberland Gardens / Southampton Gardens

Page 88



7 

 

 

LB Merton Street Cleansing  
Local Improvement Plan 

 
 

Tavistock Crescent 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yorkshire Road

Page 89



8 

 

 

LB Merton Street Cleansing  
Local Improvement Plan 

 
 

Future Initiatives 
 
 

Within the LIP Veolia expressed a desire to work with LB Merton and identify a site for a 
Mitcham ‘sub depot’ at the London Road Cemetery to improve presence and the service’s ability to 
respond to local issues. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Veolia’s objectives for a sub-depot 
●   To create a cleansing ‘Village’ with local buy-in from the staff and public alike 
●   Infrastructure - Veolia will provide a temporary office building if a chosen sites can accommodate. 

○ It is intended that an office will allow staff to meet their managers within their 
area of works rather than travelling to Lower Morden 

○ This building would also be the home of the “Mitcham Village Surgery” where - 
by appointment - members of the public could meet the local management and 
officers to address any local concerns and effect faster remedies. 

●   Safe overnight storage for street cleansing barrows. 
●   The potential for an off-street store for green-bagged arisings 

Page 90



9 

 

 

LB Merton Street Cleansing  
Local Improvement Plan 

○   20m³ RORO bin to be installed if the site can accommodate. 
 

 An area mobilisation and debrief point for; 
○   Local barrows 
○   Compact and subcompact mechanical sweepers and; 

 An area to potential accommodate a tipping point for subcompact mechanical sweepers to improve 
the productivity of this equipment. 

 
 

Allowing for some of the resources to be mobilised from within Mitcham will allow them to 
spend less time travelling and more time working in the Town Centre areas before the 08:00 
threshold to achieve ‘Grade A’. 

 

 
The ability to tip ‘on-site’ and will further reduce ‘down time’ for any subcompact 
mechanical sweepers we mobilise from the site and thus increase their output. 

 

 
The generation and storage of green sacks by barrow sweepers has been a discussion point 
since the start of the contract. Dependent on the location of any sub depot in relation to the 
sweeping rounds, one or more barrow sweepers would have the opportunity to store their 
arisings off-street. 

 

 
Pavement mechanical sweeper trial 

 
In late October / Early November 2019 Veolia will trial the Tennant 636 subcompact 
pavement sweeper and/or the Tennant 500ze electric subcompact pavement sweeper. As 
the images 
suggest the units are virtually identical other than how they are powered. The 500ze has the 
added benefit of low-noise running which can be advantageous in Town Centre areas when 
carrying out 
the early morning cleansing before the between 06:00 and 08:00 to bring them up to standard. 

 
The Tennant 636 Pavement Sweeper                   The Tennant 500ze Electric Pavement Sweeper

Page 91



10 

 

 

LB Merton Street Cleansing  
Local Improvement Plan 

 
 

Following any town centre duties, the pavement sweepers would then be deployed to assist 
the barrow sweepers delivering high quality, uniform standards of cleansing on footways. 

 

 
Mechanised pavement sweepers raise the profile of the cleansing services to the public and 
improve the perception of the service. 

 

 
With this level of assistance from the mechanical units the barrow sweepers can concentrate their 
efforts on using hand tools to cleanse the channels between parked cars that is impossible for the 
assigned channel sweepers to access. 

 

 
Although these machines have limited capacity (0.75m³ in the ze model or 1.0m³ in the diesel 
powered 636), the proximity of Mitcham to the Viridor Beddington site will allow the machines to be 
productive. 

 

 
If we are successful in securing a sub-depot in Mitcham and the trial is successful, Veolia’s desire 
is that any subcompact would be mobilised from the sub-depot and would also tip there directly into 
a 20m³ RORO bin to further increase the productivity. 

 

 
Public Rights of Way (PROWs)  

 
 

Veolia have been in discussion with the Assistant Director to address improvements in the service 
delivery in the Public Rights of Way (PROWs) using a dedicated staffing resource. The discussions 
have centred around the sole use of the Sheltered Team to undertake this work, allowing them to 
work together as a team with the required level of supervision. 

 
 

 
Re-evaluation and Progress 

 
 

Although operations are still ongoing, we aim to see an improved and sustained level of 
performance. Veolia will be arranging for a further Borough inspection with the Cabinet 
Member, Director and Assistant Director to demonstrate the improvements made and the 
challenges we face. During the monthly contract meetings, we will report on the progress made 
to the LIP until the completion of the identified actions. 

Page 92



Veolia - Local Improvement Plan 0

Authority: LB Merton 1 Status of LIP:
Prepared by: Scott Edgell 2

Version: 1.2 3

ID #  Investment Priority Title/Description How success is Measured Actions Expected Start Date Review Period

M.LIP01 Staffing High Additional EM assigned to the East of the Borough Hours Worked
Focus on improved standards of teams deployed; 
Delivery success managed through management 1:1

23 September 2019 Quarterly

M.LIP02 Staffing Normal Circular review of barrow crew performance Improved street grading
Improved use of sweeping equipment
Focus on weeding & street tree bases
Improved detritus cleansing

30 September 2019 Weekly

M.LIP03 Staffing High Re-Induction of street cleansing staff % Staff Trained
Re-induction of all staff with subsequent Performance 
Improvement Plans being used to raise standards

08 July 2019 Monthly

M.LIP04 Resource Normal Issuing of SLWP manual % Staff signed for manual
The SLWP manual clearly states standards required and 
supports routine business processes 

23 September 2019 Monthly

M.LIP05 Resource High Re-routing of sweeping schedule in affected Wards (East) % Completion of Re-scheduling
Weaknesses were identified in the cleansing schedule; 
Re-scheduling prioritsed to develop more efficient 'beats'

02 September 2019 Weekly

M.LIP06 Staff & Resource Normal
Targeted deep-cleansing prgramme to return to baseline, 
enabling barrow crews to maintain standards

% Completion of Deep-cleansing 
Programme

To date, targeted deep cleansing delivered in Pollards Hill, 
Figges Marsh & Graveny Wards

14 October 2019 Weekly

M.LIP07 Infrastucture Low Development of East Borough sub-depot Progress of plan to delivery
To work with LBM to identify possible locations and agree 
proposals to develop a sub-depot in the East of the 
borough to improve service efficiency

TBC Monthly

M.LIP08 Staff & Resource Normal Trial of mechanised pavement cleansing Improved street grading
In January,  trial the use of the Tennant pavement cleansing 
machine - to improve detritus cleansing

January 2019 Weekly

1 of 27/11/2019

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Reference from Overview and Scrutiny Commission  - climate emergency
	5 Scrutiny of the Business Plan 2020-2024: comments and recommendations from the overview and scrutiny panels
	6 Financial Monitoring October 2019
	Period 7 October 2019 Cabinet Report
	Subject:  Financial Report 2019/20 – October 2019
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	1.1 This is the financial monitoring report for period 7, 31st October 2019 presented in line with the financial reporting timetable.
	This financial monitoring report provides -
	 The income and expenditure at period 7 and a full year forecast projection.
	 An update on the capital programme and detailed monitoring information;
	2. THE FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS
	2.3 2019/20 FORECAST OUTTURN BASED UPON LATEST AVAILABLE DATA
	Overview
	Corporate Items - £476k under
	Overview
	Public Protection

	(820)
	(669)
	(1,525)
	Children Schools and Families
	Overview

	At the end of October Children Schools and Families forecast to overspend by £1,212m on local authority funded services, a reduction in overspend of £369k from September’s outturn forecast. The pressure is mainly due to the volatile nature of placemen...
	The CSF department received £500k growth for 2019/20 which was all allocated against the SEN transport cost due to the continuing pressure in this area.
	Local Authority Funded Services
	Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
	Management action
	New burdens
	Corporate Items
	Appendix 2 –  Detailed Corporate Items table
	Appendix 4 –  Treasury Management: Outlook
	 Name: Roger Kershaw
	 Tel: 020 8545 3458
	 Email:   roger.kershaw@merton.gov.uk



	Appendix 6 - P7 Progress on savings 2019-20
	Appendix 7  - P7 Progress on savings 2018-19 Red Only
	Appendix 8 - P7 Progress on savings 17-18 Red Only

	7 Street Cleansing Localised Improvement Plan
	VES Local Improvement Plan 20191003
	VES LIP Action Plan




